

## **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

# Social Work Supervisors as Gatekeepers

Camielle Call Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Social Work Commons

# Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

#### Camielle Call

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Elizabeth Walker, Committee Chairperson, Social Work Faculty
Dr. Debora Rice, Committee Member, Social Work Faculty
Dr. Kristin Richards, University Reviewer, Social Work Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2020

#### Abstract

Social Work Supervisors as Gatekeepers

by

Camielle Call

MSW, University of Utah, 1990 BSW, Utah State University, 1984

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

May 2020

#### Abstract

Supervision in social work is a long-held tradition chiefly regarding completing required supervisory hours for clinical licensing by state licensing boards. Social work supervision is a process wherein supervisors provide oversight to new social workers through supporting, managing, developing, and evaluating their work. The purpose of this qualitative study was to gain an understanding of how supervision is conducted and how social work supervisors view their position as gatekeepers to the profession. Using an interpretivism framework, in the context of the vital nature of supervision, symbolic interactionism was used to look at the reactions of social work supervisors and their current supervisory methods. Research questions were created to draw out specific tools and techniques to better assist the supervisor. Action research methodology through purposive convenience sampling and snowball sampling was used. Seven social work supervisors met using video-conferencing technology. Focus group members responded to discussion questions in an 80-minute online discourse. Data were transcribed, coded, categorized by theme, and analyzed to assess similarities, differences, new ideas, and suggestions for social work supervisors as gatekeepers. Results indicated there is a need for active and empathic listening of supervisees and positive clinical modeling. These findings may be used to support supervisors as they oversee new social workers.

## Social Work Supervisors as Gatekeepers

by

Camielle Call

MSW, University of Utah, 1990 BSW, Utah State University, 1984

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Social Work

Walden University

May 2020

#### Dedication

This work is dedicated to my parents, Connie Wheeler Call and Dennis Boyd Call. To my late mother, Connie W. Call, whose brilliance I did not fully appreciate until her last days as she contributed a considerable amount of knowledge and feedback on my doctoral work. Without her, my life would not be the quality it is today. I love you, Mom. To my equally brilliant father, Dennis B. Call, an incredible octogenarian whose life experience, knowledge, counsel, and moral value system has added significantly to my life and the successful completion of this research. I love you, Dad.

#### Acknowledgments

First of all, I wish to thank my son, Joshua K. Thomas, who has been such a boon in my life, and who has consistently and regularly encouraged my work, especially when I have felt overwhelmed. He has made this doctoral journey well worthwhile as he continued to cheer me on through the process.

I would like to give heartfelt thanks to my sister-in-law, Patti Egbert Call, who was one of the first to know of my DSW pursuit, frequently checking on my progress and inquiring about my physical and emotional health. Patti has a special way of reassuring me through stumbling blocks, providing better support than I could have asked.

My two sisters, Denalee Call Chapman and Jennilyn Call Eckersley have spent many hours reviewing my work from the beginning. They spent significant time with editing, suggesting different ways of thinking and writing. They have remained a large part of my foundation of DSW existence.

My Committee Chair, Dr. Elizabeth Walker, has been an incredible influence and mentor and example to me through my trek toward completion. She consistently exhibited an unbelievable amount of patience, advising me throughout this process.

Always an inspiration, my heartfelt thanks goes to Dr. Walker.

Dr. Debora Rice, my second Committee Member, remained encouraging and uplifting despite those times I felt somewhat defeated. Dr. Rice believed in me and believes in all of her students. Huge thanks to Dr. Rice.

And finally, a tremendous acknowledgement and thanks to my colleague, friend, and my beacon, Corinne Smorra, as she pulled me through difficult times even when she was still working on her own DSW. A better collegial friend cannot be found!

## **Table of Contents**

Se	ction 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Purpose Statement and Research Questions	4
	Nature of the Doctoral Project	6
	Significance of the Study	8
	Theoretical/Conceptual Framework	.11
	Values and Ethics	.12
	Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	.13
	Process	. 13
	Synthesis of Current Literature	. 14
	Purpose of Social Work Supervision	. 15
	Seminal Researchers	. 18
	Cognitive Behavioral Supervision	. 19
	Gatekeeping Addressed	. 20
	Inadequate and/or Harmful Supervision	. 22
	Learning Objectives	24
	Peer Supervision	. 25
	Summary of Literature Review	26
	Summary	.28
Se	ction 2: Research Design and Data Collection	30
	Research Design.	30

Methodology	32
Prospective Data	32
Participants	32
Instrumentation	34
Data Analysis	34
Source and Analysis	34
Strategies for Rigor	35
Ethical Procedures	36
Informed Consent	36
Data Protection and Confidentiality	37
Summary	37
Section 3: Presentation of the Findings	39
Data Analysis Techniques	40
Time Frame	40
Data Analysis Procedures	41
Validation Procedures	43
Limitations	44
Findings	44
Description of Sample	44
Research Questions	45
Unexpected Findings	61
Summary	67

## Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social

Change	69
Application for Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice	70
NASW Code of Ethics Guiding Clinical Social Work Practice in Study	70
NASW Code of Ethics Principles/Values Related to Study	71
How Findings Will Impact Ethical Social Work Practice	72
Recommendations for Social Work Practice	73
Action Steps and Dissemination Information	74
Personal Social Work Practice	76
Transferability	78
Usefulness of Findings	79
Limitations Impacting Usefulness	82
Recommendations for Further Research	82
Implications for Social Change	83
Potential Impact for Positive Social Change	83
Summary	85
References	87
Appendix: Discussion Questions	101

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study and Literature Review

As newly graduated masters of social work (MSW) -level social workers begin their careers in the workforce, many strive to meet the stringent requirements for state licensure, either as a clinician or to meet advanced generalist practice requirements (Dran, 2014). Within these requirements lies the expectation that appropriate social work supervision will be provided as the social worker strives to meet rigorous state-mandated licensing requirements. Tornquist, Rakovshik, Carlsson, and Norberg (2017) suggest that supervisees who receive positive feedback and feel supported during the supervisory sessions benefit considerably. Additionally, this positive feedback tends to have a greater impact on whether clinicians adhere to supervisors' suggested client interventions. In this process, the supervisor becomes a gatekeeper for the profession.

A qualitative design using action research methodology was implemented for this study, bringing Alaskan social work supervisors together in an online focus group. Focus group members consisted of seven social work supervisors who came together through both purposive convenience sampling and snowball sampling. Zoom videoconferencing was used for the focus group meeting. This action research effectively explored the way social work supervisors in Alaska utilize their experience, expertise, knowledge, outside resources, and skills, specifically the National Association of Social Work (NASW) Code of Ethics (2017), as they act as gatekeepers to the social work profession.

Gaining a greater understanding of individual social work supervisors' attitudes, practices, and methods allows the reader the opportunity to ascertain whether this study might be applicable to his or her practice. Some expected positive social change

implications of this study may include greater emphasis on ethical supervision through the many state licensing boards, the Clinical Social Work Association (CSWA), and the NASW. This study may also be an impetus for schools of social work, at all levels, to help students navigate through their own personal ethical value systems as they begin their foray into the social work profession.

#### **Problem Statement**

State social work boards as overseers of licensed clinical social workers (or similar), expect licensing candidates to meet rigorous requirements necessitated by state law and the profession's code of ethics. Licensing boards, consequently, expect an experienced social worker to oversee and supervise the new graduate or novice practitioner. Unlike other states, some of which require pre-approval for licensed clinical social worker (LCSW) supervision, the State of Alaska, where I live and practice, does not. Thus, the onus for gatekeeping falls upon the LCSW supervisor as he or she monitors the worthiness of the supervisee for licensing. As such, the supervisor is effectively signing off as the last line of defense in allowing a novice social worker the freedom to practice as he or she chooses.

In today's social work climate, some clinical social workers have either come close to or even violated boundaries, as defined by seminal supervision professionals such as Milne, and ethics professionals such as Reamer and Barsky. For example, Reamer (2003) suggests that a boundary crossing is distinguished from a boundary violation.

Reamer quotes Corey and Herlihy (1997), stating that it is becoming clearer that not all dual relationships can be avoided, while other dual relationships, such as sexual

interactions, *must always* be avoided. Likewise, the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) section on supervision expects professional social workers who are also supervisors to set boundaries which are clear and proper, as well as culturally sensitive. Additionally, the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) suggests that social workers take care to not engage in relationships with supervisees wherein there could be the potential for harm or exploitation. Thus, the social work profession is guided not only by state statutes but also by the profession's Code of Ethics (2017).

Thus, through providing training and having individual conversations with social work supervisors in the State of Alaska, it has come to my attention that there are many social workers who are often thrust into a supervisory role without significant training, some without any training whatsoever. Additionally, having read or reviewed multiple articles by Milne regarding social work supervision, it is evident that social work supervision is an area, unto itself, which needs further investigation. More specifically, within my own state of practice, Alaska, and understanding the dearth of social workers within this state it becomes important to research how social work supervisors are practicing, specifically within the bounds of their individual supervisory training and skills. On a national basis, Reiser and Milne (2017) directly address negative experiences of supervisees, referencing Ellis et al. (2013), making it clear that regardless of discipline, appropriate and effective supervision is consistently at the fore. Reiser and Milne (2017) state that negative experiences in the supervisory setting have long been recognized by licensing boards, evidenced in reasons for disciplinary action, and that it is only within

the past few years that the disturbing degree of such adverse experiences has become apparent.

Therefore, it is imperative that social work supervisors seek out and obtain supervisory training. McNamara, Kangos, Corp, Ellis, and Taylor (2017) suggest that raising awareness among professionals about insufficient or potentially harmful supervision should help initiate conversation, thereby leading to action and change. Social workers are often thrust into supervisory roles without having had specific supervisory instruction; consequently, the potential for negative supervisory experiences may be higher. Ongoing training may help assure that social work supervisors are more sufficiently accomplished and better able to provide supervision of the highest quality and above-board when it comes to professional values. This study adds to the current literature and positively impacts the conversation, action, and change.

#### **Purpose Statement and Research Questions**

The purpose of this study was to understand how (a) social work supervisors in Alaska utilize their experience, expertise, knowledge, and skills in the supervision process, (b) how they understand their role as acting as gatekeepers to the social work profession, and (c) how the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) provides value within the supervision process. The following research questions were used to guide this research project:

RQ1: How do social work supervisors in Alaska use their experience, expertise, knowledge, and skills in providing supervision to novice social workers?

RQ2: In what way do social work supervisors in Alaska understand their supervisory role with novice social workers as serving as gatekeepers of the social work profession?

RQ3: How do Alaska's social work supervisors perceive the value of, and report using, the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) as a resource or guide in the supervision process?

Throughout this work I refer to gatekeepers, novice social workers, and supervisors. For purposes of this paper, the following definitions apply:

Gatekeeper: According to Meissner and Shmatka (2017), the definition of a gatekeeper includes those who oversee and deliver information, effectively inspiring upcoming professionals;

Novice social worker: The fresh, newly graduated social worker who has the enthusiasm combined with a desire to promote or encourage social change, either individually or within the community, with a great commitment to the profession (Freund, Blit-Cohen, Cohen, & Dehan, 2013); and

*Supervisor:* One who encompasses the actual authorization to oversee the supervisee's daily actions, actual workload, and/or assigned tasks (Fisk, 2013).

This project is important for the social work profession in terms of adding value to the supervisory experience and to bring recognition to the expectation of social work supervisors functioning as gatekeepers, as well. That is, supervision is an ongoing action, not just an event; indeed, Tornquistet al. (2017), suggest that the purpose of supervision may be articulated in various ways. For example, according to Bernard and Goodyear

(2013), the intent of supervision is for the professional development of the supervisee, to safeguard the welfare of clients, and to ensure the clients' safety. As supervisors move the supervisee toward ensuring client security or safety, the gatekeeping function is in use. To those novice social workers looking toward reaching the goal of professional licensing, *just there* supervision is not enough. Through this research, my intent was to provide information that allows for greater opportunity for social workers to become supervisors of excellence.

#### **Nature of the Doctoral Project**

Using action research for this project, I was able to ascertain how social work supervisors in Alaska use their experience, expertise, knowledge, and personal and professional skills as they provide supervision. Specifically, I sought to understand and appreciate the perception of those who are supervising new graduates who are working toward their clinical social work licensure. With this in mind, it is important to understand what action research is and the purpose for its use in this particular project.

In explaining the depth of action research, McNiff and Whitehead (2010) break down the physiognomies of this type of research, as compared to the more traditional and typically-understood scientific research. For example, action research is practice-based which focuses on improving knowledge, learning, and practice, and accentuates the standards of best practice. Additionally, action research provides for a more collaborative co-construction of the professions' familiarity with practice, working through a higher-than typical manner of questioning; that is, applying problematic inquiry as a way of digging deeper into the practice than is accepted at first-blush. Further, it is significant to

realize that action research is a powerful tool in its contribution to societal transformations and cultural conversions (McNiff & Whitehead, 2010; Stringer, 2014). Stringer (2014) advises that the purpose of any inference or deduction coming out of action research is to clearly show how stakeholder viewpoints impact the issue being researched, and to recommend changes in organizational or programmatic operations suggested by the results of the research.

As an LCSW living in Alaska and as one who trains other Alaskan social workers in ethical supervision, I utilized this action research methodology to understand the way LCSWs practice in their roles as supervisors. Data was gathered through an online focus group. After recruiting no fewer than six and no more than 12 Alaska licensed clinical social workers (Gaižauskaitė, 2012) who are supervisors, I arranged a web-based focus group through the Zoom face-to-face online meeting program. During the focus group, the interview questions were presented and discussed

This action research methodology aligns with the research purpose and questions by providing an opportunity to specifically address social workers who are supervisors in the State of Alaska. By so doing, I pulled together clinicians from a variety of communities within the state which includes a spectrum of major cities with populations of over 250,000 down to small coastal and inland villages of 200 or fewer inhabitants, many of whom are related. Alaska is a rather unique state in both its size and its populace; newly graduated masters-level social workers are often paid high salaries to work in the smallest of communities.

Alaska has many clinical social workers who are working in remote areas without adequate, or even any, supervision. In practice, if social work clinicians are working for agencies, there is no requirement for licensing and thus for supervision. However, if clinicians are working for a village or community government, these new social workers must secure their own clinical supervisor if they wish to pursue licensing. This supervisor must, in turn, be approved in writing by the Alaska Board of Social Work Examiners before providing supervisory services, generally through an online or telephonic system (State of Alaska, 2018).

It was vital to this research to have discussed how often the NASW Code of Ethics is utilized during the supervisory experience. It was also important to know how Alaska social work supervisors view their use of the code of ethics. Through bringing Alaska social workers together in the form of a focus group, these and other relevant issues were discussed.

#### Significance of the Study

Bringing together a community of social work supervisors in order to thoughtfully converse on the topic of ethical and appropriate supervision in the profession is consistent with continual assurance of ethical supervision as identified in the NASW Code of Ethics (2017). This opportunity provided a venue for participants to report on their own practices, bringing to light a deeper discussion than I have seen in the literature.

Additionally, ethical concerns these supervisors unearthed affords an opportunity for future investigation into social work education, subsequent practice, and practice within the supervisory setting.

The purpose of this study was to understand the value of supervisors in the social work profession, specifically when acting in the role of gatekeepers. That is, as social workers begin their supervised practice, any supervisor in place has a great responsibility to assure integration of highly ethical social workers as they move from beginner to professional in the workforce. Formally reaching out to Alaskan social work colleagues, I requested their involvement in my research as members of a focus group in order to gather a wide realm of thoughts, ideas, practices, and opinions related to their oversight of beginning social workers.

The outcomes of this study provided a multitude of different results which will add to the social work supervision literature in the realm of direction, guidance, and assistance to the already established skillsets of those in supervisory roles. Further, the social work profession as a whole may benefit from this study with forward momentum established by the most recent version of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017). That is, as the profession has continued to advance in our global world, so must social work supervisors. As gatekeepers to the profession, it is of paramount import that social work supervisors maintain their professional knowledge and expertise, high ethical value systems, and career experience, imparting such to their supervisees as they assess and make appropriate professional recommendations.

In order to do so, the discussion questions designed to determine whether participating supervisors utilize the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) in supervision, how it is used, and the value of the code of ethics in the supervision process. Examination of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) clearly states the manner in which social workers are to

utilize their supervisory roles toward the best outcomes for their supervisees. For example, the 2017 revision to the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) discernibly and in plain language identifies those ethical standards to which social workers who provide supervision are expected to practice:

- a. Social workers who provide supervision or consultation (whether in-person or remotely) should have the necessary knowledge and skill to supervise or consult appropriately and should do so only within their areas of knowledge and competence.
- b. Social workers who provide supervision or consultation are responsible for setting clear, appropriate, and culturally sensitive boundaries.
- c. Social workers should not engage in any dual or multiple relationships with supervisees in which there is a risk of exploitation of or potential harm to the supervisee, including dual relationships that may arise while using social networking sites or other electronic media.
- d. Social workers who provide supervision should evaluate supervisees' performance in a manner that is fair and respectful. (p. 21)

This exposition illuminates the expectations agreed upon by the social work profession and has been shown, within state social work licensing boards, and specifically within the State of Alaska (State of Alaska, 2018), to be the approach a social work supervisor is projected to practice. Utilization of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) as a guide for all social workers, whether they are members of this professional organization or not is of utmost import for one's licensure. Those social workers who are

not members of the professional organization will undeniably be held accountable to this social work standard should there ever be a complaint or question of supervisory practice standards.

Indeed, Sewell (2018) has gathered an anthology of both conceptual and empirical articles which were published in the years from 2013 through 2017. In the abstract, Sewell (2018) reports that social work supervisors have not typically been able to access best supervision practice material, nor have they traditionally accessed any corresponding research regarding staff supervision. Sewell's (2018) supervision primer provides an overview and orientation to supervision literature, which includes both definitions and disciplinary perspectives. Sewell (2018) further suggests that recurrent review of the literature, with its dissemination to social workers throughout the country, can only increase the continued presence of social work research.

#### Theoretical/Conceptual Framework

The best theoretical framework for this project was that of interpretivism. Gray (2013) suggests that in action research we are investigating social realities which are significantly different from the laws of science, otherwise referred to as *natural realities*. Therefore, action research is dramatically different from traditional scientific research.

Within this interpretivism framework, I used symbolic interactionism, initially discussed by American pragmatist philosophers Dewey and Mead, as cited in Fink (2016) and Gray (2013). Symbolic interactionism presumes that individuals within a given group have their own separate outlook which defines how they should react or act in a particular situation (Fink, 2016; Lal, 1995; Segre, 2019; Stryker, 2000). These actions or reactions

are generally defined as the presumption that people build and view their lives, their respective worlds, and their societies through interaction (Fink, 2016; Lal, 1995; Segre, 2019; Stryker, 2000). That is, it offers a lens for looking at one's self, one's everyday life, and the world, then interpreting and acting on that individual perspective. Utilization of symbolic interactionism required that I, as the researcher, feel and exhibit detached, impartial, and unbiased observation throughout the course of the focus group meeting. By so doing, interpretivism using symbolic interactionism effectively informed my research through the employment of personal interpretation of objects and actions, meanings, and themes which arose from the process of the focus groups (social interaction), and the manner in which focus group participants reported that they act upon their own personal interpretations, which in this case, is the social work supervisor's role as a gatekeeper for the profession (Gray, 2013).

#### **Values and Ethics**

Throughout this previous year, I have discovered that there is not just one or two, or even three, particular values and principles of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017), which are specifically relevant to this action research study. Indeed, as the title is written, *Social Work Supervisors as Gatekeepers*, it summarizes the very essence of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) as a whole. More precisely, this qualitative research into the practices of social work supervisors in Alaska offers new ways of looking at specific supervisory issues throughout the country; these initial findings can be further investigated at a later time in order to deliver more widely transferable findings for the professional practices of social work supervisors throughout the country.

These values and the principles that follow ought to be an invaluable part of the moral compass used before, during, and after the supervisory process. That is, each social work supervisor must incorporate their own moral value system in a manner which is in keeping with the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) as a whole. By so doing, he or she is better prepared and practiced in the art of maintaining consistency between one's public or professional presence and his/her private persona.

#### **Review of the Professional and Academic Literature**

The literature review process is paramount and vital for good scholarly work. This research project sought to learn how social work supervisors in the state of Alaska view and understand their roles as gatekeepers of the profession, aligning the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) with this understanding. The study also brings together several areas of interest: ethics in supervision; use of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) in the supervisory session; the value of ongoing training in supervision. All of these areas convey the broader issue of social work supervisors as gatekeepers to the profession.

#### **Process**

The process for my proposal's literature review took an interesting and somewhat wavering journey. Prior to the summer of 2018, I found myself having to reach back through peer-reviewed literature to 2010 and earlier; it seemed, at the time, that I would need to cull considerable literature regarding supervision not only from other mental health professional journals, but also other health, business, and leadership journals. However, it felt nearly phenomenal when, in August 2018, I began discovering numerous scholarly articles which had been published or were in pre-publication in 2018, all related

to social work supervision or mental health supervision. In this review, I utilized the following databases: SocINDEX, Social Work Abstracts, PsychINFO, Academic Search Complete, and the ResearchGate database (https://www.researchgate.net).

Initially, my search keyword combinations became quite creative due to the seeming dearth of peer-reviewed journals/articles on my topic. Those word combinations included but were not limited to *social work supervisors* or *supervision; supervision in mental health; behavioral health supervision; healthcare supervision; ethics and supervision in social work* or *mental health* or *behavioral health;* and more. As previously stated, August of 2018 brought about an apparent awakening in scholarship specific to my area as I again searched the above databases using the following keyword combinations: *social work supervisors* or *supervision; ethics* and *supervision in social work; supervision* and *ethics; social work supervision* and *ethics;* and *social work supervision* and *social* or *human services.* Overall, years searched were 2000 through 2018, with the most recent sources being utilized first. In cases where earlier sources are cited, they are specific to a given topic or were used as pivotal research and/or by seminal authors.

#### **Synthesis of Current Literature**

Ultimately, of the 101 references reviewed, 52 were published within the previous five years. Considering the initial difficulty in locating and procuring current literature, this is an incredible number of articles and research. Within these 52 articles, seminal authors had initially begun their supervision research and publishing in the late 1990s or early 2000s.

#### **Purpose of Social Work Supervision**

One may consider or expect that social work supervision is a given, and that newly qualified social workers automatically receive the appropriate supervision necessary for their particular position in the workplace. However, this has not always been the case, and is now only beginning to take root, according to Manthorpe, Moriarty, Hussein, Stevens, and Sharpe (2015). The intent of supervision, according to Bernard and Goodyear (2013) can be identified in diverse ways, such as the professional development of the supervisee, to safeguard the clients' wellbeing, and to assure the clients' safety.

In 2011, the British Association of Social Workers (BASW) provided a concise and succinct description of the expectations of social work supervision. This includes the recognition that social work is a demanding profession, rife with intricate and multifaceted skills and which requires good, supportive supervision in order to better enable social workers to maximize their professional success (BASW, 2011). Indeed, Hafford-Letchfield, and Huss (2018), along with Beddoe, Karvinen-Niinikoski, Ruch, and Minsum (2015), Bogo and McKnight (2006), Carpenter, Webb, and Bostock (2013), Manthorpe et al. (2015), and O'Donoghue and Tsui (2013) describe the increasing vulnerabilities in social work supervision, suggesting the absence of empirical enquiry has been, at best, challenging and is in need of international research in order to establish evidence of efficacy and enhancement, thus improving upon the success of proper supervision.

Manthorpe et al. (2015) discuss the purpose of social work supervision as that which is seen to be most useful for novice social workers, later tapering off to a more

generic model of support as social workers gain greater experience. Manthorpe et al. (2015) concluded that more critical consideration should be paid to how supervisors might assist supervisees at different stages of their careers. Additionally, social workers who feel they are lacking supportive supervision may find it useful to seek out supervision which will assist them in developing career resilience (Manthorpe, et al., 2015).

Radcliffe and Milne (2010) go further in discussing the purpose of supervision, citing the meaningfulness and satisfaction with the supervisory process. That is, much like patient satisfaction in the health care quality assurance realm, supervisees fare best when they are engaged in a satisfactory or better than satisfactory experience with supervision (Radcliffe & Milne, 2010). In this same study, eight themes arose that are important for supervisees and are listed in order of relevance: (a) Subjective needs, (b) Relationship, (c) Resolution, (d) Availability, (e) Supervisor expertise, (f) Secure space, (g) Support, and (h) Empathy (Radcliffe & Milne, 2010).

**Subjective needs.** Satisfaction with one's supervising needs may vary greatly from one person to another. Thus, in order to assure satisfaction or gratification with the supervisory experience, novice social workers will relate it according to their own perceived needs, both personally and professionally (Radcliffe & Milne, 2010).

**Relationship.** Supervisees who view their relationship with their supervisors as positive and supportive also view the supervisor as approachable and attuned to their needs. Although there remains a power differential between the two parties, and there is a

fine line in this balance, supervisory sessions can easily steer the new social worker in constructive and encouraging directions (Radcliffe & Milne, 2010).

**Resolution.** Supervisees who are new to the field and are looking to their supervisors are seeking answers, often to decisions or actions they have taken. When they feel that the supervisor is supportive and is able to gently nudge them in the right direction, satisfaction comes more easily (Radcliffe & Milne, 2010).

**Availability.** According to this study, a lack of time on the part of the supervisor may be viewed by the supervisee as not important; that is, the supervisee may see the supervisor having time for multiple other tasks but feel diminished or invalidated when the supervisor cannot or does not make adequate time for supervision (Radcliffe & Milne, 2010).

Supervisor expertise. Supervisees view supervisors as the *subject matter expert* and expect to learn much from them. It is also important that the supervisor be skilled and experienced enough to identify both strengths and weaknesses of the supervisee, while at the same time maintaining a good balance between the two (Radcliffe & Milne, 2010).

**Secure space.** In the sense of supervision, this secure space is not necessarily the physical brick and mortar meeting space. Rather, it is a psychological safety net where the supervisee feels accepted and where the supervisor will be mindful and in the moment with the supervisee (Radcliffe & Milne, 2010).

**Support.** Although seemingly redundant with some of the other identified themes, support from the supervisor to the supervisee was identified as a time and space for being appropriately challenged; that is, for a supervisee to feel as if he or she is

pushed a bit outside of their comfort zone while also improving skills (Radcliffe & Milne, 2010).

**Empathy.** Stepping outside the common perception of empathy as being wholly understood by another person, empathy in the supervisory process is a bit deeper. That is, for the supervisor to understand both the issues facing the supervisee, and the feeling that the supervisor distinctly relates to the experience based on their own encounters (Radcliffe & Milne, 2010).

All of the above themes justify the purpose of current and appropriate supervision for novice social workers. Manthorpe et al. (2015), the BASW (2011), and Radcliffe and Milne (2010) all agree on the necessity of clinical supervision, most particularly to assure that new social workers are able to effectively serve their communities as a whole as well as individuals and families.

#### **Seminal Researchers**

As previously stated, cases where earlier sources are cited, are more specific to a given topic, or were used as pivotal research and/or through publications by seminal authors are utilized as needed. Most of these influential and formative researchers began their initial research and publication in the late 1990s and early 2000s. Some who stand out as significant and persuasive include Martin (2017), Milne(2018, 2017, 2016, 2014, 2012, 2010, 2007), and Reiser (2017, 2016, 2014, 2012), all three of whom discuss clinical supervision within the context of cognitive behavioral therapy along with inadequate and/or harmful supervision; Ellis, (2017) who has researched the areas of inadequate, harmful, or even damaging supervision; and Beddoe, (2012), who has

consistently written about challenges to supervision as well as the readiness of new social workers to be supervised and to begin their respective practice. These seminal authors, along with others such as Blount (2016), Hafford-Letchfield (2018), and Engelbrecht (2018, 2014) have influenced this resurgence of research into clinical supervision.

#### **Cognitive Behavioral Supervision**

Interestingly, among the most recent literature I found a trend toward integrating a cognitive-behavioral therapy formula into the supervision process. Reiser and Milne (2017) suggest this formulation is an imperative move, as it stresses a real world, problem-solving approach which can be supportive to the supervisees' narratives, thereby decreasing any potential harmful supervision, as discussed. Because supervisory learning is a process, supervisees are unlikely to learn if or when supervisors simply tell or instruct them on what to do (Tornquist, Rakovshik, Carlsson, & Norberg, 2017).

Milne and Reiser (2017), seminal researchers in the psychotherapy supervision arena, recently published a manual which provides evidence-based CBT supervision guidelines. This manual is filled with extensive research which will enlighten supervisors and encourage use of the CBT formula in the supervisory setting. Additionally, this manual includes the acumen and insight of many therapists who are CBT-accredited supervisors and is distinctly evidence-based (Milne and Reiser, 2017).

Clinical psychotherapists, in general, rate reflection as primary to the supervision experience, posits Tornquist et al. (2017). Further, the use of reflection in the CBT approach can provide more practical and informational support, which grows as the supervisees develop and improve their therapeutic skill sets (Tornquist et al., 2017). By

using learning objectives in the CBT supervision formula, supervisees are better able to distinguish between concepts, such as those taught in the classroom, and more hands-on, or procedural learning, including intervention timing, psychotherapy skills, and more (Cabaniss, Arbuckle, & Moga, 2014).

#### **Gatekeeping Addressed**

Of the multiple studies and articles I found which have been published since 2013, just nine of them specifically address gatekeeping. One of these nine studied gatekeeping in the realm of gaining access to potential research participants, not gatekeeping as part of the social work profession (Crowhurst, 2013). Even within the remaining eight articles, six of them provided only a bare mention of gatekeeping as a central theme integrated into the overall responsibility of supervision (Bell, 2013; Crunk & Barden, 2017; Dan, 2017; Ellis, 2001; Ellis & Ayala, 2013; Ellis, Hutman, Creaner, & Timulak, 2015). The remaining two articles effectively addressed gatekeeping as a major part of the supervisory process (Falendar, 2018; Russo-Gleicher, 2008). Because accountability is a primary concern for social work supervisors, I found this lack of discussion to be evidence of a gap and weakness in the work to date.

Despite this weakness, the minimal literature did address this significant and vital issue at varying levels. That is, some authors, such as seminal researcher Reiser (2014) suggest that although difficult, it is important to create and preserve a learning environment which is safe for the supervisee, and which allows the supervisor to maintain his or her ethical and professional gatekeeping role in order to protect the client and the public-at-large. Ellis, Creaner, Hutman, and Timulak (2015), suggest that

gatekeeping to the mental health profession is, indeed, a facet of the role of clinical supervisors. Bell and Rubin (2013) mention the role of social workers as having been gatekeepers of family planning for the past 40-plus years. While the Bell and Rubin (2013) research is focused on family planning, the reference to gatekeeping is a reminder of the high ethical standard to which social workers are held.

Falender (2018), infusing her study with a supervisor's responsibility as a gatekeeper to the mental health profession, specifically states that in the international competence movement, competency-based supervision is at the fore. Further, suggests Falender (2018), the competency-based training model assures that the supervisee is fully aware of the gatekeeping role the supervisor holds, which is primarily ensuring that unsuitable individuals do not enter the mental health profession. Supervisors serve as the vanguard, assuring their roles as gatekeepers and evaluators remain polished and untarnished (Falendar, 2018). The professional supervisor, in providing this assurance, guarantees that his or her supervisee receives the best available service, monitoring quality and professional development, with unfettered access and as appropriate, to the supervisor (Falendar, 2018).

Overall, the minimal literature available suggests social work supervisors are the last bastion of gatekeeping to the social work profession. That is, while BSW programs, MSW programs, and practicum supervisors stand at the figurative gate, the final step for this profession which holds its members to the highest standards of moral ground lies with those who accept the title of supervisor for newly-trained social workers. Therefore,

it is imperative for supervisors who oversee the work of social workers moving toward clinical licensure to ensure appropriate and responsibility for effective gatekeeping.

#### Inadequate and/or Harmful Supervision

Ellis (2001), Engelbrecht (2018), Hafford-Letchfield (2018), McNamara (2017), Milne (2017), Martin (2018), and Reiser (2017) have deeply researched the issues of inadequate or harmful supervision since the early 2000s. Effectively discussing the problems faced when a supervisee is inadvertently or purposely harmed, these researchers provide examples and guidelines for assuring that new clinicians remain out of harm's way as they find their own paths for practice. They discuss supervision at multiple levels, including peer, agency, and external supervision. Added to this research, and by the same authors listed above, I found research identifying supportive supervision and evidence-based supervision (Milne & Martin, 2018; Radcliffe & Milne, 2010). In addition, it is important to note that what is referred to as *peer supervision* may put a clinician's license at risk and potentially cause vicarious clinical liability if it is used to replace proper clinical supervision (Martin, Milne, & Reiser, 2017).

Inadequate supervision. Prior to 2013, very little literature existed which identified inadequate supervision; rather, the word *bad* was used to describe what is now referred to as *inadequate* (Ellis, Berger, Hanus, Ayala, Swords, and Siembor, 2013). Further, suggests Ellis et al. (2013), it became necessary to delineate supervision that is *minimally* adequate in order to best define inadequate supervision. Ellis et al. (2013) goes on to explain that the word inadequate typically refers to ongoing supervision, and that it may include just one very poor supervisory session, or it might be a poor or unfortunate

relationship between the supervisor and the supervisee. In earlier work, Ellis (2001) discussed a specific continuum which at one end exists inadequate supervision and the other end is anchored by *harmful* supervision; by the same token, inadequate supervision, itself, likely subsumes or is considered to be included in the harmful supervision anchor (Ellis, et al., 2013). McNamara et al. (2017) build on Ellis, et al. (2013) by suggesting that clinical supervisory training should specifically include information about "... minimally adequate, inadequate, and harmful supervisory practices" (p. 135).

Harmful supervision. Harmful supervision, posits Ellis (2001), is at the far end of the supervisory continuum which begins with inadequate supervision. It is differentiated from *bad* supervision (personality or theoretical mismatch, chronic cancellations or lateness, unproductive) and is defined as supervision practices which result in physical, emotional, or psychological trauma or harm to the supervisee. It is possible that harmful supervision could be a product of a supervisor who is inappropriate or acting with malice and/or negligence, or a supervisor who clearly violates the profession's code of ethics (Ellis, 2001). This definition is a concise description and is similar to harmful therapeutic interventions or services. It should not be difficult to transfer clinical skills into the supervisory setting; at the same time, Clay (2017) describes some clinical supervisors as being rude, yelling at supervisees in public, and even sexually harassing them.

Interviewing subjects about their supervisory experiences, Reiser and Milne (2017) found a deep and expansive range of supervisory deficits, connoting a serious prevalence of harmful clinical supervision. Experiences with harmful supervision may

lead a supervisee to feel shame and doubt about their skills and chosen career for years, some even leaving their profession (Reiser & Milne, 2017). As a response to narratives expressed by research subjects, Reiser and Milne (2017) espouse a cognitive-behavioral approach, which utilizes a problem-solving rational, to train and educate supervisors as they engage their supervisees.

#### **Learning Objectives**

As mentioned above, effective supervision of novice social workers includes learning objectives, much like the clinician will utilize a treatment plan with a client or patient. Social work clinicians using the CBT format in supervision will present a more outlined and distinct approach for their supervisees. Cabaniss, Arbukle, and Moga (2014) discuss, at length, learning objectives in the supervisory setting. If learning objectives are not used to direct supervision, both the supervisors and supervisees may feel some consternation or uncertainty about the goals of supervisory sessions, as well as how they might attain those goals, and how the goals should be evaluated (Cabaniss et al., 2014). It is incumbent upon the supervisor to set the pace or the standard for supervision as a whole, and for goals and objectives toward which the supervisee is working. Further, much like a therapy treatment plan, learning objectives in supervision must be clear, concise, and measurable.

Competencies in social work practice are considered the norm, as seen in publications such as the NASW Code of Ethics (2016) and other NASW-published standards. Humphrey, Marcangelo, Rodriguez, and Spitz, D. (2013) suggest that the graduated competencies beginning with novice, moving through advanced beginner,

competent, proficient, and finally expert, should be considered as skill acquisition. This skill acquisition suggests that through the supervisory process and the learning objectives achieved, social work practitioners move through an *on-the-job* type training progression, allowing them to become expert practitioners.

Cabaniss et al. (2014) continues discussion of specific advantages that come from utilizing learning objectives. These advantages are outlined as linkage between didactics and supervision, guided evaluation, standardized supervision, facilitated research and program analysis, and connection with the supervisees' chosen field. Generating and using learning objectives in psychotherapy supervision is a recipe for turning out successful, moral, and honorable practitioners, which in this case is social workers (Cabaniss et al., 2014).

#### **Peer Supervision**

Peer supervision is often utilized by a localized group of social workers who are able to get together on a regular basis in order to both support one another and to provide a way of gathering new ideas or methods for a particular case (Martin, Milne, & Reiser, 2017). My own personal experience of peer supervision has allowed me the opportunity, over the years, to ascertain different ways of providing treatment or therapy, assisted in improving my own learning in a given area of practice, and provided me with guidance from other social work clinicians whom I hold in high esteem. Indeed, Martin et al. (2017) have suggested that peer group supervision provides mutual, informal, interconnected support with group members' concerns, both clinical and professional.

Abstractly, this is much like consultation with a peer, and includes social support such as emotional, practical, informational, and professional camaraderie (Martin et al., 2017).

Peer supervision is a popular way of gaining new insights into difficult cases as well as the therapeutic process as a whole. It is typically quite cost-effective while also being collegial, non-threatening, and trustworthy. However, peer supervision may have some weaknesses, suggests the UK Department of Health (2016). Peer supervision has little, if any, oversight and is not monitored or even empirically based; it may also be considered as flawed in that utilizing peer supervision as a replacement for proper regulated supervision may put a social worker's license and career at risk (Martin et al., 2017).

# **Summary of Literature Review**

From these contemporary articles, numerous have been chosen and synthesized as representative of the full spectrum. The works I reviewed represent a range of professional interests within the supervisory spectrum. Ultimately, I was able to find several references to the gatekeeping aspect of supervision, although it was minimal, signaling a gap in the literature.

Additionally, O'Donoghue (2015) suggests social work supervision research has not been well-known or even easily accessed over the years. Further, argues O'Donoghue (2015), many recent literature reviews into social work supervision research have proven to exhibit a scarcity of studies; those available articles demonstrate an inadequacy in the contribution to the social work profession. In agreement, Hafford-Lecthfield and Huss (2018) proffer that because research into social work supervision is lacking a firm

empirical basis (Carpenter, Webb, & Bostock, 2013), it remains a topic of challenged practice.

Despite this major weakness, significant strengths are present and growing in all recent research. Social work scholars around the globe have begun what appears to be a rejuvenating resurgence of research into social work supervision. For example, Watkins (2018) discusses supervision in psychotherapy as having been practiced in an almost monotone fashion for over three decades. Watkins (2018) then presents a pioneering model of psychotherapy supervision which is described in the abstract as "... inextricably intertwined facets of process ..." (p. 1). Further, Watkins (2018) agrees with seminal supervision researcher Milne (2007, 2018) who provides what has been identified as the empirical definition of supervision which states, in part: "The formal provision, by approved supervisors, of a relationship-based education and training that is work focused and which manages, supports, develops, and evaluates the work of colleagues ..." (p. 17). Thus, the need for research into the responsibility social work supervisors hold as they provide oversight for students completing practicum experiences in given settings, novice social workers completing required work hours toward professional licensure, and even those involved in peer supervision experiences. As previously stated, this now-identified resurgence in supervisory research has further encouraged my desire to address supervision from the framework of responsibility. If social workers have gone through a minimum of two expected/required years of supervision in order to achieve licensure for independent practice, it behooves them to choose carefully those supervisors with whom they desire to be associated; likewise, supervisors must also be cautious and take great

care in choosing whom they will agree to supervise. There are multiple and various ways in which social workers may act that may clash with the NASW Code of Ethics (2017). Although I have not uncovered specific cases in which social work supervisors have been held accountable for a supervisee's bad acts, it is definitely within the realm of reality to recognize this scenario as inevitable.

#### **Summary**

Prior to approximately 2012, there had been a serious dearth of literature delving into the area of social work supervision, specifically literature with any empirical understanding of what *supervision* itself should look like, or the manner in which it should be practiced. Newly graduated social workers have, for more than 30 years, haphazardly settled for supervision chosen for them by virtue of the agency in which they were employed. Others have settled for external supervision *approved* by their employing agencies, likely not knowing they had or have choices or a voice in their own supervision.

Having graduated with my MSW degree in 1990, my own experience was as described above. It was only following my practicum experiences when it occurred to me that I could actually choose my own clinical hours supervisor. Because of not previously having that knowledge, my second practicum was supervised by a social worker who had never practiced in the clinical arena. Rather, she had been an academic prior to accepting a position as the social work manager at the local regional hospital. Therefore, I sought out post-master's supervision from the woman who supervised my first practicum, which

had been clinical in nature, as opposed to medical social work, which covers a different realm of social work skills.

As I gained experience, my professional interests seemingly naturally fell into the supervision area, specifically with regards to the ethics of supervision and the responsibility for professional gatekeeping in the supervisory role. As such, my career has taken the turn from direct clinical services to more writing, training, and direct supervision, for the purpose of assuring that ethical supervision is primary in the minds of those colleagues in the field who have also chosen to provide supervision. Lastly, I come to my doctoral work with a great interest in assisting even more social work supervisors to consider all aspects of their supervisory process with regard to ethics and the responsibility they bear in subsequent practice by their supervisees.

This literature review reflects a renaissance or revitalization of interest in appropriate, effective, and ethical supervision for social workers. As previously stated, my initial experience of locating recent research demonstrated a scarcity of resources; most literature located at that time had been completed prior to 2010. However, with this renewal of interest in supervision, I have been able to locate a significant amount of pertinent and recent research. The main gap in this resurgence is that of gatekeeping, ethics, and the utilization of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) within the supervisory process. Thus, this study adds to the current literature with specific reference to the importance of ethics in supervision and the use of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017), along with gatekeeping. In the next section, I discuss the research design, data collection methodology, and research participants.

## Section 2: Research Design and Data Collection

Nearly every state in the country requires a minimum of two years of employed supervision for a newly-graduated MSW-level social worker to become licensed. This licensure is required for social workers to practice independently and is often a requirement for those looking to be hired at given agencies. Both statements assume qualified, experienced, and effective supervision; within this assumption lies the expectation that social work supervisors will act ethically and morally in their role as gatekeepers to the profession. Throughout this section the chosen research design and methodology is discussed, along with a review of the data analysis and ethical procedures that should be in place and practiced.

# **Research Design**

The impetus for this research was both personal and professional interest, and a gap in the literature regarding social work supervisors as gatekeepers to the profession has surfaced. Additionally, there was a lack of information related to supervisors' use of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017). Because of this, the following research questions were used to guide this research project:

RQ1: How do social work supervisors in Alaska use their experience, expertise, knowledge, and skills in providing supervision to novice social workers?

RQ2: In what way do social work supervisors in Alaska understand their supervisory role with novice social workers as serving as gatekeepers of the social work profession?

RQ3: How do Alaska's social work supervisors perceive the value of, and report using, the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) as a resource or guide in the supervision process?

Considering the purpose of this study, there was a research gap regarding the gatekeeping role of social work supervisors, along with the question of whether and how social work supervisors are using the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) in their supervisory sessions. That is, contemporary literature discusses a variety of issues including supervisory challenges, wellness, potentially harmful and/or inadequate supervision, supervisor expertise, training and supporting social work supervisors, peer supervision and/or consultation, evidence-informed approach to supervision such as reflective and CBT supervision, seminal researchers and innovations in supervision.

However, minimal literature found focuses on the perspective of the social work supervisor as a gatekeeper for the profession. Therefore, a qualitative design using action research methodology was used in this study of social work supervisors in Alaska. Being a licensed clinical social worker in the State of Alaska, I recruited social work supervisors within the state, and brought them together in a tele-meeting focus group to discuss their role as gatekeepers.

The purpose of this study was to bring social work supervisors together in a focus group to discuss multiple facets of the supervisory process, most particularly their understanding of their roles as gatekeepers to the profession, along with utilization of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017). By so doing, this research aligns nicely with action research methodology and allowed me to facilitate discussion with Alaskan social work

supervisors, listen to their thoughts and ideas, and gauge how they view their gatekeeping roles and their use of the profession's code of ethics. Such research is beginning to fill the gaps found in the literature review of gatekeeping and the use of the NASW Code of Ethics in the supervisory process.

## Methodology

## **Prospective Data**

The data collection approach for this project was through recruitment for a focus group consisting of no fewer than six and no more than 12 Alaskan social work supervisors. These social worker supervisors were my sources of data. Data collection was completed through an action research qualitative inquiry method. This group of social work supervisors provided feedback through discussion of questions posed during the focus group.

Concepts considered included social work supervision, the participants' use of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017), and the role of gatekeeping for the profession. Participant use of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) was examined through group members' understanding of the code, how they interpret it to fit their individual practices, and their use of it in the supervisory process. Further, questions presented for discussion delved deeper into the variables by the manner in which each question was posed or postured and how the participants responded.

#### **Participants**

Participants in this action research project were identified and recruited via two avenues: (a) purposive sampling and (b) snowball or chain-referral sampling. Purposive

sampling is sampling that begins with a precise purpose in mind and therefore, includes those individuals specific to a certain study (Stringer, 2014). For purposes of this project, it was necessary to call upon licensed clinical social workers in Alaska who are also supervisors, as they were the population of interest who suited the purpose of my research. Snowball sampling, also known as chains-referral sampling, is based upon referrals from initial contacts which then generate further potential participants (Stringer, 2014).

Utilization of purposive sampling directly aligned potential participants to the practice-focused question to be studied. Snowball sampling allowed for those already recruited to refer other social work supervisors for potential inclusion in the study. Those recruited were asked to participate in a focus group in order to ascertain the general manner of supervision among Alaskan social work supervisors.

Gaižauskaitė (2012) suggests that the most feasible number of focus group participants encompasses a range from six to 12. Additionally, suggests Gaižauskaitė (2012), in order to assure the minimum number of participants are in attendance, the researcher should recruit the maximum. Thus, the size of this participant sample, no fewer than six and no more than 12 Alaskan social work supervisors, is most appropriate based on the number of licensed clinical social workers within the state, with even fewer who are also supervisors. Ultimately, in recruiting for 12 participants, per Gaižauskaitė (2012), there were seven social work supervisors who agreed to participate in this online focus group, providing an ideal number of group members.

#### Instrumentation

No existing measurement tools or instruments were used to collect the data. As the researcher, I wrote specific questions for the focus group to discuss. In so doing, my interview protocol was informed by my literature review and the interpretivism framework discussed. I developed questions after the manner of Rubin and Rubin's (2012) data gathering process and responsive interviewing model. Open-ended queries were employed using objective and nonjudgmental verbiage as a means of encouraging openness, honesty, and candidness in the discussion. Additionally, I collected appropriate demographic information.

# **Data Analysis**

# **Source and Analysis**

All data for this project were gathered during the focus group and was analyzed according to the rigorous procedures for analysis and interpretation as outlined by Stringer (2014). This process maintained the chronology of efforts as listed and included data review, unitizing (which means isolating the individual elements of each participant's narrative), categorizing and coding, identifying themes, establishing a category system, and developing a report framework. It is significant to note, as did Stringer (2014), that the experiences of each participant are unique to themselves; in that manner, it was important to examine the data in terms of each participant's own words to ascertain their significance. By so doing, the data more clearly represented the experience as identified in the participants' own narratives.

The focus group was audio recorded using Zoom along with a back-up recording on my cell phone's *VoiceMemo* recording app. This recorded conversation was transcribed and coded into themes through the use of NVivo. NVivo has a proven ability for efficient and well-organized multiple-source sorting and aiding the researcher in analyzing the data collected (Hoover & Koerber, 2011). Additionally, NVivo provided a transcription service, which allowed me to assure an accurate record, both audio and in print form, from which to work as information was transferred into the NVivo program.

## **Strategies for Rigor**

Getz (2017) states that action researchers use trustworthiness to encourage trust in their studies; rigor follows with the way the principles of action research are carried out. Therefore, the concepts of trustworthiness and rigor are intended to authenticate, or validate, work completed by action researchers (Getz, 2017). As opposed to traditional research, where statistical data evidences rigor, qualitative action research is dependent upon subjective interpretation as to the rigor of the study (McNiff & Whitehead, 2010; Stringer, 2014). In action research, rigor is identified as the manner in which the action research principles are followed, while trustworthiness is the way of showing evidence of trust in the study (Krefting, 1990). Stringer (2014), in referencing Lincoln and Guba (1985), puts forth the notion that trustworthiness can be shown through measures that evaluate confirmability, credibility, dependability, and transferability. In order to assure my subjective interpretations are, indeed, trustworthy and meet the expectation of rigor, I used peer debriefing with one of my committee members to review my coding. In addition, I was able to track the process through journaling my thoughts and feelings in

order to address any potential for bias, along with utilizing focus group participants for member checking of initial coding which greatly helped evaluate both objectivity and accuracy in the coding.

#### **Ethical Procedures**

#### **Informed Consent**

Informed consent is a required process for all research, based upon Walden's policy for research as well as federal guidelines. The expectation that participants understand the research, itself, and their role in this study is of paramount import to the project and to me, as the researcher.

In order to assure the focus group discussions are completed well within the highest realm of ethical accountability, the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) was used to assure that participants, as well as potential readers of the research, understood and will understand the expectations of the profession. Under section 5.02, Research and Evaluation, the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) suggest that social workers adhere to the use of appropriate informed consent procedures in any and all types of research or evaluation, that they make certain to advise research participants of their right to remove themselves from the research at any time and without consequence, and that research participants are provided with supportive services. Additionally, the NASW Code of Ethics (2017), 5.02 expects that social workers doing research will protect participants from mental or physical harm, ensure confidentiality, obtain proper authorization for any potential disclosure of information, and inform participants when research data will be destroyed. All of this was accurately followed.

## **Data Protection and Confidentiality**

All data collected is and will continue to be held confidentially. As stated in the informed consent, "... data obtained will be transcribed and kept secure for at least five years by maintenance of the information on a dedicated thumb drive along with hard copies in the researcher's personal safety deposit box." At the end of five years, the thumb drive and all hard copies will be destroyed according to professional standards, which standards may be in place at that future time. Additionally, each participant has been asked to maintain confidentiality of both participants and any discussion during the focus group.

## **Summary**

To summarize, the research design, methodology, data collection and analysis processes, and ethical procedures as described above have been held to the highest standard, as they will continue to be. This standard includes data analysis procedures as outlined by Stringer (2014) along with the rigorous standards of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017). By so doing, the outcomes of this research have been reviewed, categorized and coded, referenced according to any themes that emerge, and discussed according to the participants' individual narratives. Steps have been taken to assure overt and complete confidentiality which are and will continue to be maintained above-board, following the expectations for social work research and evaluation according to the NASW Code of Ethics (2017).

The impetus for this research project came about after consideration of multiple areas within the ethical standards to which social workers are held. As a public speaker

with an expertise in supervision and ethics, I determined that bringing this combined subject matter to the capstone project process would greatly enhance my own knowledge and proficiency. It may also be quite beneficial to clinical and other social workers who hold supervisory positions at some point in their careers. This project was designed to gain a greater understanding of how social work supervisors in Alaska manage their supervisory role and how they implement the NASW Code of Ethics (2017). This research is, indeed, a doorway into the manner in which social workers across the country manage their own supervisory roles, and how they may implement the NASW Code of Ethics (2017). In Section 3, I present the details of the data analysis along with the research findings.

## Section 3: Presentation of the Findings

Following my second MSW practicum, which was supervised by a master's level social worker who had no clinical experience, the entirety of social work supervision became a fascinating topic. This research was further born after many years of supervising social workers and other mental health professionals, along with providing ethical supervision training for attendees of multiple NASW and NASW-Alaska professional conferences, including the most recent 2019 NASW-Alaska conference. These experiences, and others, brought me to the point of wanting to investigate the manner in which social work supervisors in Alaska provide supervision to those under their purview. Further, recognizing that my own practicum supervisor had only academic experience and not clinical, my mental meanderings bantered about the idea and the practice of gatekeeping in the social work profession. Thus, the following research questions were addressed:

RQ1: How do social work supervisors in Alaska use their experience, expertise, knowledge, and skills in providing supervision to novice social workers?

RQ2: In what way do social work supervisors in Alaska understand their supervisory role with novice social workers as serving as gatekeepers of the social work profession?

RQ3: How do Alaska's social work supervisors perceive the value of, and report using, the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) as a resource or guide in the supervision process?

Data for this venture were collected through an approximate 80-minute online focus group consisting of seven seasoned social work supervisors who responded to a set of 10 questions. These questions covered their supervision and gatekeeping experience, practice, ethics, and opinions. For the best success of an online focus group, I chose to utilize the common and easily access program Zoom. Zoom allowed for all participants to be in a virtual room, interacting with all participants, and with me as the researcher. The circumstances of group expectations were laid out at the beginning, including emphasis on the expected confidentiality of the group, its members, and any discussion held therein. All participants were given opportunity to respond to each of the 10 questions, as well as interact with one another throughout the discussion.

Section 3 begins with a discussion of techniques used for data analysis, effectively summarizing procedures used in recruitment, responses, data analysis, validation, and concluding with limitations tackled and problems faced during the research time period. This section then moves to an account of the statistics that appropriately characterize the sample, findings as organized by research questions, showing how these results give credence to the research questions, and ending with any unexpected findings revealed. Lastly, in Section 3, I provide an overall summary of the research findings and introduce Section 4.

#### **Data Analysis Techniques**

#### **Time Frame**

Over the course of approximately three months, encompassing July, August, and September of 2019, purposive sampling and snowball or chain-referral sampling took

place. Through a public listing of LCSWs, I located published phone numbers and called multiple people on the list. As this effort resulted in minimal response rates, I further sent out a specific recruitment request through the Alaska Chapter of NASW. From this recruitment request, snowball sampling naturally occurred, and I was able to garner nine prospective participants.

Of the nine prospective focus group members, one opted out shortly after consenting to participate, and one had a conflicting training and was unable to join in the focus group. Of the seven remaining, all were present for the scheduled group meeting; one participant was traveling and had to participate strictly by phone. Shortly after the group started, this contributor's call dropped, and she later sent her responses to the questions via email. The focus group members subsequently responded to emails and verified their responses after I sent the transcript of the discussion to them. All made themselves available to me, should any coding issues arise.

Although it took significantly more time than I anticipated to recruit participants for the focus group, those who ultimately consented and then partook were experienced, skilled, and knowledgeable social work supervisors. Once these social workers were identified, I was able to schedule and carry out the online focus group within approximately 10 days. I feel quite fortunate to have learned and gathered data from such a qualified assemblage of social work supervisors.

#### **Data Analysis Procedures**

The Zoom program used for this online focus group contains an audio-recording option. This was in place, along with a back-up recording using the VoiceMemo feature

on my cell phone. The back-up recording was fortunate, as the audio from Zoom failed to perform accordingly. I was able to send this back-up audio from my phone to my laptop computer via email, which was then uploaded into the NVivo Transcription Service and transcribed within less than one hour. After converting the transcription to MSWord and reviewing, I uploaded it to the NVivo software program.

In my early analysis, I followed the process as outlined by Rubin and Rubin (2012) to "... recognize and identify concepts, themes, events, and examples ..." (p. 192), using NVivo as a tool for me to grab and drop specific statements into its appropriate coding file. This allowed me to maintain the integrity of the research questions, being able to mindfully choose what is important and useful (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). NVivo, like other software programs, has the capacity to help simplify the process of data management as it guides the process of grouping, sorting, and offering suggestions of related concepts (Rubin & Rubin, 2012).

Using the research questions, I started the initial coding stage as outlined by Costa (2019), reading the transcription line-by-line in order to identify and create categories.

This categorization led to employing NVivo to help sort through the code frequencies, search for and classify similarities, followed by the development of sub-themes (Costa, 2019). Further, I used the questions discussed in the focus group to detect patterns within each sub-theme (Costa, 2019).

Moving into the second coding stage (Costa, 2019), I began the sorting process wherein I categorized the codes and began to determine relationships between categories. This process allowed me to hunt for similarities or parallels in the code categories,

preparing for the third coding stage, which is developing sub-themes and sub-theme patterns (Costa, 2019).

#### **Validation Procedures**

My validation procedures included member checking by emailing the transcription to each participant for review. Further, I tracked the process through journaling which allowed me to consider any potential I may have had for bias and adjust accordingly. Lastly, I utilized peer debriefing with my committee chair, Dr. Elizabeth Walker.

Each participant was sent a copy of the focus group transcription via email. They were asked to review and respond with any corrections. Three members replied with minor corrections to the copy; the remainder had no changes.

During the coding process, I spent time journaling as a way to identify any potential bias on my part. Through this activity, my personal introspection provided valuable insights into my own thoughts and feelings related to supervision as a whole. It also allowed me to ascertain whether I was infusing my own preconceptions into the actuality of the focus group discussion.

In providing the write-up of the experience to my committee chair, peer debriefing was utilized. This debriefing provided valuable feedback for me to be able to properly complete the research. It also added to my professional fount of knowledge, which will be carried forth into the social work profession.

#### Limitations

The main limitation encountered was the failure of the recording through the Zoom program. Fortunately, I anticipated the need to have a secondary recording source using the VoiceMemo option on my cell phone. Although I had projected this need, VoiceMemo was not turned on until the second participant began to provide a response to the first question. Sadly, this meant losing the initial discussion point from the first participant. However, it did not take away from the overall discussion, as evidenced in the transcription of the focus group meeting.

The second limitation was the actuality of needing to do a focus group online because of the vastness of Alaska. While the group was effective with participant interface and much data was collected, it would likely have been more interactive had we been able to meet in person. Despite this limitation, all seven social work supervisors were highly experienced and qualified, providing exceptional expertise for gathering data.

#### **Findings**

# **Description of Sample**

The focus group participants, consisting of seven current Alaska-licensed LCSWs, have been licensed in the state from two and a half years to 30 years. Many group members are Alaska transplants and were previously licensed in other states. All participants work full time and have wide-ranging supervision experience, from individual to group supervision and from supervision of students to recent graduates working toward licensure and beyond. One participant also supervises behavioral health

aides (BHA), a para-professional unique to Alaska in that they serve most of the outlying villages in behavioral health needs, with LCSW oversight.

Participant current places of employment comprise primary care settings including the VA, outpatient clinics, tribally owned clinics, and the University of Alaska. They presently live as far west/southwest as the Kenai Peninsula, as far southeast as Juneau, in *interior* Alaska comprising Fairbanks and other outer-area villages and communities, and in central and southcentral Alaska. Some places are accessible only by boat or plane.

## **Research Questions**

Each research question is listed, followed by a discussion of the findings.

RQ1: How do social work supervisors in Alaska use their experience, expertise, knowledge, and skills in providing supervision to novice social workers? The findings answer RQ1 through the participants' responses to two of the discussion questions, one of which was specific to their supervisory role and the other detailing how each group member would intervene with a troubled supervisee. There was general consensus surrounding active, empathic listening and providing positive clinical modeling for supervisees. Also generally agreed upon was the participants' use of their clinical skills without becoming a therapist for supervisees.

For example, RG stated,

I see my role as a sounding board. You know, not as a therapist in some way and not giving off solutions. Allow them to think critically and to be a sounding board for maybe what they think they already know.

BP responded saying,

I think I am a counselor at times, a colleague, professor, mediator and preceptor. I feel it is my job to offer active listening to supervisees, give examples, share case situations, and be the safe person who will understand what social workers go through day to day.

And from FG: "I would be kind of like a model therapist because as therapists we have our own reactions to our individual clients."

With regard to applying one's clinical skills without becoming a therapist for the supervisee, SV said, "I do use my therapeutic and clinical skills while not being a therapist. To me that's one of the hardest jobs, to not run into being a therapist. As a supervisor it's inappropriate." Some discussion centered on recognizing what the supervisor should do with a supervisee who is troubled. For example, YC said, "If you're supervising a student, you're not their therapist. On the other hand, if they have issues that are affecting their performance in the practicum, maybe they need a referral to something like the care team at a university." SL stated,

The most complicated part of supervision for me, those boundaries when they're bringing stuff in from home in their personal life. That might be where there's more limit setting with meaning when that personal stuff is really coming into the office.

Some discussion took place regarding participants' personal supervisory experiences when they were either practicum students or working toward clinical licensure. It was generally agreed that different supervisors provide dramatically

dissimilar supervision. This can be both perplexing and distracting to the supervisee, particularly if they deduce mixed professional messages coming from, for example, two or more various supervisors during the course of their practicums and their post-MSW clinical hours. SL reported, "When I did my clinical supervision it seemed like different supervisors had different expectations, and if there was gatekeeping, it was different, depending on the supervisor. As a student that was confusing to me." KS echoed this sentiment stating,

It is very true about there being such a diversity between supervisors. There are those who are more than willing to sit down with you for your supervision hour but bring very little to the table and are willing to just sign whatever papers. And then there are others who really do the work to challenge you as a learner and give you lots of great insight and help you grow as you're becoming a social worker.

Additionally, I found that these supervisors interact with supervisees in a number of various ways as they use their experience, expertise, knowledge, and skills in the supervision setting. These include taking stock of the person's current life situation, using storytelling and lessons learned from personal experience, reinforcing knowledge and skills, helping them understand and work through the ethics of social work, and discussing real or potential ethical dilemmas. For example, RG reported, "I talk openly about navigating dual relationships, and ultimately help remind them that they do have the skills." And BP described her supervisory style as, "I meet the social worker where they are, gather information and assess. I relate to or offer different perspectives.

Sometimes I'll share cases of my own and ask them to process with me."

This discussion shows a very whole-person attitude toward the supervisory process. That is, although similar, each participant talked about their own individual experiences as a supervisor and/or supervisee and the issues confronted daily. In this process, each individual considered the entirety of the supervisee rather than just within the four walls of the supervisory setting. They practice what we are all taught as we train for the social work field, that considering the person in environment is imperative. It remains just as imperative in supervision as we oversee the upcoming generation of social workers.

RQ2: In what way do social work supervisors in Alaska understand their supervisory role with novice social workers as serving as gatekeepers of the social work profession? Throughout the 80-minute discussion, it was quite clear that these experienced social workers take their roles very seriously. They all agreed that providing supervision to the next generation of social workers is a great responsibility and that it is paramount to provide the best possible supervisory experience they can. Indeed, KS stated, "I always think about gatekeeping when I'm signing that supervisory form for licensure. Gatekeeping is my responsibility to the rest of the community and to our profession to assure that they're really well prepared." Others agreed with this statement, indicating the enormity of the gatekeeping task and to make certain that social workers maintain a consistent standard of practice.

KS later said, "I think the diversion between supervisors and not having some kind of a standard could be a detriment to gatekeeping." This sentiment was echoed throughout the conversation either with comments or head nods. Remarking, after

identifying child protective services as a particularly difficult and onerous job for social workers wherein supervision can sometimes be minimal, SV stated,

I think we often see gaps in places like the Office of Children's Services, places where the time burden becomes so intense that quite often supervision can fail or can fall by the wayside. It's going to happen sometimes; when it happens over the long haul and continues, I think then we all have a reason to be concerned (about gatekeeping) because it affects all of us and the people we serve.

As a seeming response to this concern regarding gatekeeping, RG said, "I want to make sure that our next level or generation of providers are trained in a good way."

Still others took an even gentler approach, such as SL who reported, "I'm going to try and steer that student in the direction of developing resilience and capacity to manage situations that are complicated that we come in contact with constantly." A similar sentiment came from SV, who said, "I do use my therapeutic and clinical skills while not being a therapist. To me that's one of the hardest jobs." From there discussion moved on to how these participants assess other Alaska social work supervisors and their views of gatekeeping. While there was some discussion, it was minimal, generally centered on not knowing if or how others may or may not comprehend gatekeeping as a factor in the supervision of students or novice social workers.

During the focus group, members responded to the discussion question about how they deal with a troubled supervisee, with very defined opinions. Nearly all reported that this is one of the most difficult pieces of their gatekeeping role. More specifically, one participant, YC, brought up the idea of the formal supervisor versus the informal supervisor, stating,

There's a formal supervisor and then there's the informal supervisor, sort of the person in the agency that really knows the policies and procedures in and out, and really takes a new employee under their wing. You need to be sure that they're both giving the same direction.

Another group member, FG, had the sentiment that being an active and empathic listener was very important when dealing with a troubled supervisee, mostly because it may best help this person. FG stated, "I address (the issue) straight on with the student or the supervisee, from a place of caring. We all make mistakes; this can be a really hard job and there are a lot of things to take into consideration."

Group participants remained in concert with one another during the focus group, particularly in this portion of the discussion. All agreed that gatekeeping, in and of itself, is essential and meaningful both for the profession and for the individual supervisees. This was particularly evident in the discussion surrounding troubled supervisees. Encouraging supervisees to be and do their very best in all aspects of their lives is a primary motivation as these social work supervisors provide supervision. In addition, all participants agreed that effective training regarding the role gatekeeping plays for social work supervisors is indispensable and a vital piece of supervisory training they would like to see in the annual line-up for continuing education.

RQ3: How do Alaska's social work supervisors perceive the value of, and report using, the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) as a resource or guide in the supervision

process? The discussion of the NASW Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) was, by far, the most intense and longest part of the focus group discussion. Approximately 45 minutes was spent on discussing the NASW Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) and the way each group member uses it in the supervisory setting. Although all participants use this code to drive their professional practice, the level of use during supervision is surprisingly varied. In the demographics initially collected, for example, the group members reported using the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) in their supervisory role from two times per year to frequently to every session. Despite these drastically different responses, all members reported that the code is extremely important in the supervisory setting.

While discussing the value of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017), one rather pertinent point of discussion revolved around the code being useful only if it is put into practice. For example, FG stated, "The code itself doesn't do anything; it doesn't provide any protection unless it's implemented or taught. If you're not using it in practice or not using it in supervision, it does absolutely nothing; it's a really nice idea." In agreement, SV responded, "It's a great doorstop but if we don't use it that's what it becomes. And we need to use it and be familiar with it." The individual who reported on the demographics form that she used the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) just two times per year stated, "I definitely think it's very valuable. I probably don't typically reference it as often as I should. I think about its value to me because it's the lens through which I see my profession."

Continued discussion of the high value of the NASW Code of Ethics was evidenced by both KS and SL. KS said, "I do use it in supervision and I certainly expect

that the people – my supervisees – know it well and understand it. I would go back to it as a resource whenever needed for further discussions and supervision." SL reported, "I think the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) is one of the strongest things we have. I think it is well developed and it's been around for a long time. I use it as a framework for general practice." SL later went on to say,

I use it to refer pretty frequently with students and maybe the very first catch-all if somebody comes to me with a problem or a challenge. It like, let's look at the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) and see where we are, what it has to say about it. It's probably my primary tool.

Other participants weighed in, with BP wrapping it up: "The value of the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) in supervision is the subconscious stream of assessing every situation. It's very high-value to me."

When asked to evaluate how they see other Alaska social work supervisors in their valuation of the NASW Code of Ethics, it was interesting to note that a portion of the discussion centered on reasoning that dissemination of updates to the code could and should be changed or improved. As an example YC, who is known in Alaska for her training in the area of technology and ethics, stated,

I've been in doing some training on changes in the code as they relate to technology, that for some reason it seems as though NASW did not get the word out very well to the members because what I'm finding in training sessions is that a number of people don't realize that those changes existed and they're fairly specific in terms of issues around technology.

SV added, "I do agree (about) the dissemination in this particular iteration. I didn't know about it till YC mentioned that there had been a change." SL responded, "One of the things that keeps coming up for me is we don't do enough training for young supervisors on how to teach and supervise other than what you can get in conferences." FG further stated,

Engaging in a discussion like this, I know my belief in other clinical supervisors has been strengthened quite considerably and I think as we talk more and more, the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017), and reference it more, our belief in the code and its effectiveness in helping to protect our clients and us in practice will be strengthened as well.

Participants brought other issues and/or concerns to the fore during this focus group which had to do with the NASW Code of Ethics (2017). One of those has to do with distance supervision, which is rather common in Alaska. Because Alaska is over 650 thousand square miles in size (<a href="www.alaska.org/how-big-is-alaska">www.alaska.org/how-big-is-alaska</a>) and has a population of fewer than 750,000 people spread throughout the state (<a href="https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/AK">https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/AK</a>) many things have been done at a distance for a very long time, particularly in the health care and mental health care fields. For example, one group member referenced the constant need to be an effective supervisor at a distance. In particular, SV said, "I think it's a real challenge when you're doing supervision at a distance, when you're not on site to actually see it, how do you actually know what's going on?"

Another participant fundamentally makes certain that a portion of the supervision time is in person. States SL, "I have a love-hate relationship with (gatekeeping). I like to supervise when I can observe 10% of the time. I like to watch the process. I can't do that at a distance, but I observe that process." Yet a different participant, YC, referencing the most recent technology update to the code, said,

One example is that the recent revision that NASW has done to the code in several areas, which now includes some very specific sections on technology and the use of technology. I think that's particularly pertinent for the practice, for our practice in Alaska, because so much of our practice is long distance.

Two similar yet different discussion questions (see Appendix) addressed how the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) protects individuals; the first one was how the code might protect Alaskan clients, and the second was how the code protects the supervisor. There was, by far, considerably more discussion about how the code protects the specific social work supervisor. This conversation, while addressing the particular questions asked, morphed into a greater discussion on the protection of supervisors. Many comments consisted of the code protecting both the supervisor and the supervisee.

For example, just four comments stand out from the conversation surrounding protecting Alaskan clients. one of those from YC who stated, "It protects Alaska clients in the same way it would protect clients anywhere so I wouldn't say that there's anything particular or specific to Alaska." Another generalization was from KS, who said, "I think it gives us a basic understanding of what's expected. And then helps us really keep in the

forefront of our minds the importance of ethical practice and really defines the right and the wrong." Again fairly general, while still discussing Alaskan clients, BP responded,

Our Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) protects our Alaska clients because we promise to do no harm. We promise to meet a client where they are and to have empathy. We promise that we will do our very best with the resources we have, and if we can't we're going to try like heck to find out how we can help (clients) cope and who to turn to.

One participant, however, replied with a more Alaska-centric response. RG said,

I think it's especially helpful for one or more remote rural areas such as Alaska. I

realize we are not the only remote and rural area. But I think it is especially

helpful for us and our clients because we do have many geographic and unique

challenges that maybe some other folks don't. I don't think it helps Alaskans any

more than anyone else but being so tight and so clear is really helpful for

providers. And that trickles down to Alaskans in general.

This comment effectively led to the discussion about how the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) protects social work supervisors.

The discussion question, "How might the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) protect you, as the supervisor, in your practice?" generated a much more vigorous discussion.

YC had multiple comments, one of which was,

We have one of the more robust and detailed codes of ethics. If you look at some of our colleagues in other, related disciplines, the issue, for example, of when a client becomes a client, is very different. So in consulting that document, one, is

knowing what's in the document, and two, it's consulting the document so that you can assist a person. If it's in your own practice or in your supervision, you can refer to it.

This comment was followed by FG who stated,

I value the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) very much. I think in supervision we have a lot of skills that we need to refine and stay on top of. To implement, we can always refer back and say 'Well, ok, so this is the scenario. What does the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) say, how would you deliver this?' I use it as very central in my supervision.

Adding to the conversation, KS responded,

I think what it does is take the opinion out of things. So if someone comes to me with something questionable, whether it fits the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) or not, and I say 'No, the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) does this ...' It protects me from the student or supervisee thinking that it's my opinion versus something that actually has a backbone.

SL added to this sentiment with,

It provides a framework for me to say this is the difference between a social worker who is practicing as licensed, and not. I think they establish pretty good standards of practice, so yes, I think it does actually provide a level of protection.

Others referenced the general protection that the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) provides for social workers as a whole. RG stated,

In the grand scheme of things you may have many types of employment and a variety of settings for yourself. And so the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) can be a protection in justifying why you are advocating and the way you're advocating or how you practice in that community.

#### And, BP followed:

The Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) gives me the protection to make a decision without thinking about it. It is no question that I am a mandated reported, I have to do something because ethically and in order to protect that license, it is a type of intervention. Just like an ER doctor who has to try all life-saving measures for a full-code patient. Should be muscle memory.

Wrapping up the code of ethics section, participants responded to the question about what changes to the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) would make it more effective. Most were in agreement that the dissemination of updates to the code is essential. With the recognition that one does not need to be an NASW member to access the code online, this generation of experienced social work supervisors prefers to receive updates to the code in ways other than through electronic transmission, though no specific means of delivery were discussed. Yet another person brought up the importance for both individuals and agencies to actually adopt the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) as their standard of practice. FG was most specific, stating, "There needs to be more training available to those in practice; a lot of social workers are not members of NASW so just notifying the membership doesn't necessarily capture all the clinicians."

This theme continued as RG responded,

I think the way we communicate it really needs to improve. And also having those specific trainings come from NASW so that they can maybe implement some of the interpretation. I appreciate getting training from the source and think that helps stick with the fidelity.

FG further added,

We need to continually bring up topics that we know we're dealing with, the problems we're solving and comparing it with what others are doing. And going back to those broad sweeping questions, which I think are very insightful, we need to have more of these conversations.

SL, referring to the seeming continual updating of technology, suggested,
I like scenarios and I like examples on some of those newer ethical (issues).
Particularly with technology; it's really tough because things are changing so quickly. It feels like as soon as we change or get some sort of a policy in place, the way people are communicating or accepting information, changes.

While the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) is both specific and general, YC adjusted the conversation to a more global sentiment:

The code is very detailed but it's still a guide. I'm always surprised when we discuss case scenarios but there are many differences of opinion among colleagues who have lots of experience. So, people still look at situations through their own world view in their own perspective.

A final statement on this issue was offered as an overall summary of how all social workers and social work supervisors can make the NASW Code of Ethics more effective for themselves. BP stated,

In order for the Code of Ethics (2017) to be effective, we all need to be using the dialogue daily in our conversations and practice. We should verbalize our ethics, we should use terminology and make it part of our language, so that it is second nature to how we practice.

The focus group participants, nearing the end of the discussion, were given an opportunity to provide any other or extra comments they chose. There was considerable discussion regarding group members' positive responses to participating in continued discussions such as this. KS, for example, suggested,

I think if we had a forum where we could just pop in and out and ask questions, kind of a think tank or something, would be nice, especially when we have struggles with a particular student or supervisee issue. It's always good to get clinical advice from colleagues.

YC agreed, stating, "It would be really helpful to have a supervisory think tank where we had an opportunity to have these kinds of discussions." And KS said, "All the conversation about the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) and how we could be better at using it both in supervision and also in practice, I think this is really a good discussion."

This sentiment was expounded upon among the participants, with several people expressing appreciation for being able to be involved in this focus group. To illustrate, SV's remarks included,

The questions you asked were very thought-provoking. They were hard and I think that's something we need to do on a more routine basis. I would really love to participate in a get-together and talk to one another. Find out what's working, what's not working, what issues we have, what ethical piece is making your hair turn white. I think that would be a great outcome of your study.

FG commented, "I've been really grateful to be a part of the discussion here.

Thank you for your efforts and getting the ball rolling." SL stated,

Training and supervision are really important. And this discussion and questions, which I am grateful to have been a part of, it needs to continue, and finding ways to do that in Alaska. I'd like to continue to grow and I'd like to use supervision to help social workers know that that's the job, that we're always continuing to grow. No matter where we are in our practice. I really appreciate the discussion today because it's made me think a lot more about (supervision) again.

Other peripheral comments covered litigation, licensing costs, difficulty in locating past supervisors when someone is applying for licensure, and Alaska's social work licensing board. For example, referencing Alaska's fairly recent decrease in licensing fees, one participant who sits on the NASW malpractice insurance board, YC, stated,

The reason is because we have to cover the costs of litigation in our licensing fees. So as it went down it gave us an indication that we were seeing less complaints coming forward that had to have legal activity involved.

Another group member, KS, said,

I was doing group supervision and there were a lot of social workers in and out of my groups. But when it came time for them to sign up for their license, they had to track me down. It's hard to always stay in touch with folks as we change jobs.

FG, while discussing his experience with the licensing board in another state reported,

When I started providing supervision I was practicing in (other state), and when I called the board asking questions about standards of practice for supervisors and resources, they offered me to bring my supervisees to the court to see how they deal with ethical violations, etc. I wrestled with that. It's like bringing a person to the slaughterhouse and saying, 'Here are the benefits of being vegan.'

# **Unexpected Findings**

Gatekeeping. Although few, there were some unexpected findings in this study. One major piece is that of gatekeeping. Throughout the literature review I was only able to locate nine articles published since 2013 which specifically addressed gatekeeping as a key role for social work supervisors. Of those, one addressed it only as it applied to potential research participants (Crowhurst, 2013). Six of the articles provided just a slight reference to gatekeeping (Bell, 2013; Crunk & Barden, 2017; Dan, 2017; Ellis, 2001; Ellis &Ayala, 2013; Ellis, Hutman, Creaner, and Timulak, 2015). The remaining two articles were the only ones to address gatekeeping at length (Falendar, 2018; Russo-Gleicher, 2008).

During the focus group, the discussion question, please discuss how you understand gatekeeping as it relates to social work supervision, yielded an intense and

seemingly determined dialogue among participants. The scarcity of literature on the subject led me to think this was not a popular or even common discussion. However, KS began the conversation with, "I always think about gatekeeping when I'm signing that supervisor form for licensure. Gatekeeping for me is my responsibility to the rest of the community and to our profession." FG followed with, "It's our responsibility to assure that they're ready, well prepared to do the job well and in a professional manner. Those are really hard things to do, but I think it's super important."

Later, SV said,

I feel that responsibility. Assuring a level of practice, standard of practice is part of the role of the supervisor. We have the obligation to the people that we serve when we say 'Yes, this person knows what they're doing. Yes, this person has adequate experience or abilities.' We have to make sure that they do.

FG chimed in with,

There's an enormous responsibility in endorsing somebody for the profession. Especially if you have concerns about their practice or about their competency. I absolutely think it's a vital part of our responsibility as supervisors. It should be explained up front as you're going into this relationship with the supervisee, this is what is expected of me, in terms of your performance, your ability, etc. Just like a teacher would be whether they give a failing grade or a passing grade.

BP had a more detailed response:

I have to keep confidentiality and protected information with my supervisee. Although, in our written agreement between myself and the supervisee, they understand that if I thought or assessed immediate harm to themselves or to patients, or if they were to break the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017), and that mandated me to report to state licensing board, I would do that. It's only happened once during my role as a licensing supervisor. It was an extreme situation.

SL discussed gatekeeping in terms of the distance issue, quite prevalent in the State of Alaska, which has so many extremely small communities and villages with great distance between them, and also as it related to her own experience as a supervisee. SL said, "I have a love-hate relationship. I like to supervise when I can observe 10% of the time. I like to watch the process. I can't do that at a distance, but I observe that process." YC picked up on both of SL's thoughts saying,

SL brought up an interesting point about supervision at a distance, which is one of the issues that we find ourselves doing a lot. And what SV said, we need to see them for at least a percentage of that time to be able to sign off on it. For me licensure is in place as a mechanism for using the profession, as well as the Code of Ethics of NASW (2017) and adherence to the code. So I think the long-distance piece is something that we have to look at both for our clinical supervision as well as for students.

Later, SV added,

If I'm working with somebody and I'm going to work with them through their whole supervision process, I would operationalize some of that ... so that they're clear on what the expectations are. And I think that that was really hard for me as

a supervisee. When I did my clinical supervision in social work, it seemed like different supervisors had different expectations and if there was gatekeeping it was different, it depends on the supervisor. As a student that was confusing to me. So I try really hard. I see my role as being as clear as possible about what my expectations are, and what is needed to meet them. I'm making it reasonable, kind of doing it person-centric with them.

Overall, the findings regarding gatekeeping ultimately made sense, despite being unexpected. It evidenced a distinct gap in the literature, with the unspoken sentiment that this is an area which needs to be more directly explored. Based on the scarcity of literature on the role of gatekeeping for social work supervisors, it appears to have become something of an underlying taboo for practice discussion.

Scarce personal knowledge of other supervisors. The second unexpected finding was the sentiment of not knowing what other social work supervisors do or how they might view their roles. Three discussion questions were asked to ascertain participants' opinions regarding other supervisors. These questions asked the group members to speculate about how other Alaska social work supervisors recognize their roles as gatekeepers, whether they use the NASW Code of Ethics (2017), and what value other supervisors might place on the use of the code.

Most responses began with the disclaimer, "I really don't know what other supervisors do/feel/think," or words to that effect. Following the caveat, there continued some minor exploration or speculation of the topic. For example, in response to how other supervisors view their gatekeeping role, YC stated,

I don't know that I can speak for other colleagues. What I would say is having worked in a state agency and also in the nonprofit world I think often supervisors, I hate to use the word cut corners, but don't always have enough time to provide adequate guidance and clinical supervision. I've certainly seen that with new people in the child protection system, for example.

SV remarked that although she does not consider herself well-versed in what other supervisors do, she then stated, "I do think that we often see gaps in terms of key things in places like OCS and those places where the time burden becomes so intense that quite often supervision can fail or fall by the wayside." SV is, however, the only participant who suggested that she would do well to better know what other social work supervisors do.

With similar disclaimers, the participants responded to the question of whether other social work supervisors use the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) in their supervision. BP responded, "I don't know if other Alaska social work supervisors utilize the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) as the driver of supervision, but I sure wish we all did in our everyday practice." SV stated,

I'm not cognizant of what everyone else does. I think anytime we're talking about the practice we're invoking the code, whether we have to refer to it or not. And certainly when there's a difficulty, obviously we get to it. But I think it's one of the many things that are central to our work.

RG reported, "I would agree that maybe it's not the most used guide. I think unless it's an ethical issue, there are any number of resources that you might use to help

supervise somebody." And FG summarized with, "I would hope that the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) is a staple in supervision."

A similar but different question about how other social work supervisors might value the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) received comparable responses. YC said,

Well, again I can't answer for anyone else. And I'm generally not, over coffee, asking my colleagues. But you know I could certainly see in training sessions individuals who are using the code in different ways.

KS stated,

So in my own supervision when I was the supervisee, my supervisors did use the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) in supervision. And also, I've been in a couple of group situations, group supervision both by me providing it and also by me attending and the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) does come up from time to time. But again I would say it's probably not used a hundred percent of the time. SV hit on a very good thought when she said,

I do not know how others use it. I would be interested in knowing more about that. I think this is a really important discussion and I think I'd like to see that kind of presentation at conferences. How do you use the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017) in your practice? When was the last time you've been trained on the Code of Ethics (NASW,2017) in relation to supervision?

Through this participant discussion I detected an underlying theme. This theme revolves around continuing education hours for licensing. Although we, as Alaska LCSWs, are expected to obtain a given amount of continuing education hours in ethics,

the profession does not necessarily provide specific training on the NASW Code of Ethics (2017). That is, we attend and listen and participate in many ethics workshops, whether online or in person, yet there are few of these trainings that specifically target the NASW Code of Ethics (2017), despite it being the primary ethical guideline in the profession. RG recognized this in her response,

As co-chair of the state conference coming up it is certainly something that we really wanted to make sure there was a lot of availability, because we see that challenge in the access to training, and lack of awareness about new changes. So trying to provide opportunities where we can. But I know there's a lot more that can be done.

This particular insight may serve to suggest future continuing education opportunities for social workers and supervisors around the country.

### **Summary**

The purpose of this study was to examine the opinions of social work supervisors in Alaska as they practice, view their roles as gatekeepers, and their perception and use of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017). The following research questions were addressed:

RQ1: How do social work supervisors in Alaska use their experience, expertise, knowledge, and skills in providing supervision to novice social workers?

RQ2: In what way do social work supervisors in Alaska understand their supervisory role with novice social workers as serving as gatekeepers of the social work profession?

RQ3: How do Alaska's social work supervisors perceive the value of, and report using, the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) as a resource or guide in the supervision process?

Overall, this focus group yielded extensive information from experienced and practiced social work supervisors. Added together, there was over 100 years of experience combined, which provided for a dynamic and fascinating discussion; additionally, all participants were happy and willing to give of their time on a Saturday morning in order to contribute.

Participant support provided a great framework to address the gap in the literature surrounding the gatekeeping role of social work supervisors, along with use of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) in their supervisory role. It quickly became evident that these practiced social work supervisors are invested in assuring their gatekeeping role remains at the forefront of any supervision provided. References to and comments about the NASW Code of Ethics (2017), in tandem with their obligation as a gatekeeper to the profession, suggest that it is time to address this particular gap in the literature. Keeping these things in mind, in Section 4 I will address application for ethics in and make recommendations for social work practice and discuss implications for social change.

Section 4: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Social Change

The intent of this study was to use qualitative research to ascertain the manner in which social work supervisors in Alaska understand their roles, recognize and practice gatekeeping to the profession, and if/how they utilize the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) in their supervisory settings. Recruitment for this study was through purposive sampling and snowball sampling in order to gather several Alaska social work supervisors as research participants. Utilizing a focus group discussion, there were seven participants who were very knowledgeable, proficient, and experienced in both social work and supervision. Each group member had no less than 20 years of social work experience, whether in Alaska or otherwise, with some having up to 30 years or more. Supervisory experience within the state of Alaska ranged from two and a half years to 30 years.

Each participant provided insight into their personal supervision style along with attitudes and intended outcomes of supervisory sessions. This was primarily important as each group member expressed, to some extent, their desire to have successful supervisees. As suggested by Tornquist, et al. (2017), supervisees who are most successful have benefitted greatly from the positive and supportive feedback they receive from individual clinical supervisors. That is, these novice clinicians reported that with positive feedback they were more inclined to adhere to supervisors' suggested client interventions (Tornquist, et al., 2017). As such, professional gatekeeping is successful. Such was the discussion in this qualitative study's focus group.

The findings in this action research study suggest that gatekeeping and utilization of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) are both imperative practices when supervising

social work practicum students as well as newly graduated, novice social workers. The idea that there are some supervisors who take little time to truly oversee and teach their supervisees was both inexcusable and unbelievable to the focus group members, despite the discussion bringing up instances of such. This in-touch supervisory knowledge extends into the profession as something that has been generally overlooked in the social work literature, particularly in the last two decades, as discussed in the literature review. The key findings here advise that more research is needed, along with supervision training for all social workers; that is, despite whether social workers intend to become supervisors, many actually do so by default, suggests the focus group.

# Application for Professional Ethics in Social Work Practice NASW Code of Ethics Guiding Clinical Social Work Practice in Study

NASW is the largest professional social work organization in the world (https://www.socialworkers.org/About). As such, the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) provides a comprehensive code of ethics by which all social workers in the country are expected to practice. Regarding social work supervision, the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) devotes section 3.01 specifically to supervision and consultation. Within this section are four subsections, the last of which states "Social workers who provide supervision should evaluate supervisees' performance in a manner that is fair and respectful." The foregoing sentence is precisely the intent of the application this study has for professional ethics in social work practice.

The other three subsections of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) 3.01 address further applicable expectations: (a) the necessity of social workers gaining the

appropriate knowledge and developing skill related to supervision; (b) taking responsibility to assure that strong, proper, and culturally sensitive boundaries are set with supervisees; and (c) emphasizes that dual or multiple relationships between supervisors and their supervisees, much like social workers and their clients, should be avoided to the extent they may pose a risk of potential harm or exploitation. These directly stated strategies are clear and concise, providing social work supervisors with strong guidelines when supervising newly graduated or new social workers. It is well within the obligation of every social work supervisor to utilize the entire NASW Code of Ethics (2017) in any type of supervision provided.

## NASW Code of Ethics Principles/Values Related to Study

Because my research into social work supervision is based upon the entirety of the social work profession in some manner, each of the six ethical principles and values listed at the beginning of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) are applicable to this study. Most particularly, however, there are two of the values which stand out as especially important in the supervision arena: *integrity* and *competence*. The ethical principle associated with *integrity* states "Social workers behave in a trustworthy manner" (NASW Code of Ethics, 2017). And the ethical principle associated with *competence* affirms "Social workers practice within their areas of competence and develop and enhance their professional expertise" (NASW Code of Ethics, 2017). Both of these strongly uphold the honor of those social workers who choose to add supervision to their practices, and who are also of the highest moral integrity.

#### **How Findings Will Impact Ethical Social Work Practice**

The findings from this study will impact ethical social work practice as it adds to the recent body of literature within the framework of the social work supervision. As previously stated in the literature review and elsewhere, most supervision research initially located was over a decade old until approximately 2017 and 2018 when this scarcity of literature began to expand. The timing for this study was fortuitous, specifically because it has identified an evident gap in the supervision literature related to social work supervisors as gatekeepers.

To review, a minimal amount of researched literature specifically addressed gatekeeping as a part of the supervisory process. Just two articles discussed gatekeeping as a primary part of supervision (Falendar, 2018; Russo-Gleicher, 2008). The findings of this study will have an impact on ethical social work practice as it begins a deeper dialog into the gatekeeping responsibility that social work supervisors hold, and it demonstrates the need for further investigation into this identified gatekeeping gap.

An additional impact is the discussion around an area of the NASW Code of Ethics, 3.01, (2017) which is specifically addressed. That is, social workers who provide supervision are held to a seemingly higher expectation as they provide guidance for social workers, both novice and experienced. More specifically, the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) expects supervisors to practice only within their areas of competence, set appropriate boundaries, maintain objective and fair performance evaluation, and refrain from being engaged in dual or multiple relationships wherein may exist a risk of potential harm or exploitation. Additionally, the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) expects that

supervisors will maintain the same level of avoiding dual or multiple relationships when using electronic media and on social networking sites as it expects in real life. This guidance explicitly impacts professional ethics in social work practice by virtue of devoting defined and direct statements for practicing in an ethical manner.

### **Recommendations for Social Work Practice**

Based upon this study and the results therein, the most obvious gap in the research to date is that of the lack of importance ascribed to gatekeeping. That is, very little literature has been published acknowledging the need for social work supervisors, at any level, to take steps or measures to assure only the best and most highly qualified students of social work are accepted into the profession. This begs questions about whether we, as social work supervisors, are willing to simply *allow* anyone who has completed the courses to practice in this very honorable profession. Are we afraid to speak up if or when we see or feel the need to suggest that social work may not be the appropriate field for a supervisee? And might we be ostracized if we were to retain this sense of moral and professional ethics if we choose to *not allow* a given individual the thumbs up, as it were, for proceeding into the profession?

All that being said, there are several steps which must be taken on many levels in order to assure this gap is filled. Having worked in the profession of social work for over 30 years, I have seen multiple individuals who are purported social workers yet fail to abide by the standards set forth by the profession. Additionally, my experience has evidenced some licensed social workers who possess an almost frightening level of animosity for the clients they serve, as well as others around them, professionals and

civilians alike. And even others who are less than humble in their chosen profession, making unreasonable demands and even exerting control over their patients or clients. For this purpose, I have outlined some specific steps that ought to be taken in order for the social work profession as a whole to gain greater insights and take stronger steps toward implementing highly educated learning in the arena of gatekeeping in order to decrease this gap in supervision.

#### **Action Steps and Dissemination Information**

There exist numerous action steps which can and ought to be taken as a way to increase the education and practice of social work supervisors to *own* the skill of gatekeeping. Those who act in the capacity of supervision, whether for new graduates or others under their purview, need to gain greater knowledge in the area of what is and what is not acceptable in the social work profession. In other words, if social work supervisors do not understand the obligation they have for assuring the best of the best students of social work are accepted into the profession, they are not able to be effective in their supervisory roles.

National Association of Social Workers. To begin to outline expected action steps, it is incumbent upon me, as the researcher, to disseminate this study to multiple entities for distribution among its members. It is imperative that this project be placed into the hands of the leaders of NASW who are responsible for education and continuing education of its members at large, as well as to the NASW specialty practice section leadership to dispense among section members. In addition to assuring this document is shared with NASW leadership, it is also essential for me to access opportunities at one or

more state and national conferences of the National Association of Social Workers. By so doing, I will be able to directly discuss this study and its outcomes with conference attendees, whether they are NASW members or not; this assures a more wide-spread allocation of the results of the project, which can then be shared with social workers who may not hold NASW membership. Regarding NASW, with such a gap in the literature regarding gatekeeping to the profession, I suggest it is now becoming the responsibility of this professional organization to follow up with further research; by so doing, NASW will be a key force in recognition of the high values expected from social workers throughout the country.

Council on Social Work Education. Another organization for dissemination of this study and its results is the CSWE. As the accrediting body for social work education, CSWE retains high expectations for social work schools and educators as they teach, imparting knowledge and skill to students who will one day provide social work services to myriad populations. I will look for opportunities to present these findings to CSWE and CSWE conference attendees in order to help integrate the idea of greater teaching of the practice of supervisory gatekeeping.

Association of Social Work Boards. Yet a third organization with which to circulate this study and/or the results thereof is the ASWB. ASWB acts as both a resource for licensing and a body for social work licensing exams in all 50 states, the District of Columbia, the U.S. Virgin Islands, as well as the Alberta, British Columbia, and Manitoba provinces of Canada (<a href="https://www.aswb.org/exam-candidates/abouttheexams">https://www.aswb.org/exam-candidates/abouttheexams</a>). With such a far reach, it is vital that ASWB receives or has access to this research, its

findings, and recommendations found herein. In communication with CSWE and NASW, ASWB may very well find it necessary to adjust some of its exam questions to meet or match formal social work education along with the principals and values of NASW.

#### **Personal Social Work Practice**

As an experienced and advanced scholar practitioner, it is vital that I put this research into practice in my own professional social work career. That is, as a known contract supervisor and consultant, it would be negligent were I to ignore these findings and simply allow new supervisees to simply *pass through* the process as I sign off on their clinical hours toward licensure. This speaks highly to my obligation and ethical responsibilities as a professional, to the social work profession, to my colleagues, and to society-at-large.

**Professional.** As a social work professional, I must assure that my personal and professional conduct remains above-board, that I avoid any appearance of misdeed, and practice without malice, misrepresentation, dishonesty, or deception at any level (NASW Code of Ethics, 2017). This absolutely includes all connections or communiques with supervisees or prospective supervisees, specifically in serving diligently and well within the gatekeeping expectation. This will require integrity in my communications, honesty and directness as I lead and guide new social workers through their clinical supervision and assume full responsibility when signing the final approval of the clinical hours document of completion.

**Social work profession.** To the social work profession, I have a duty to continue to maintain personal and professional honor while promoting the highest standard of

practice. To do so means I must be actively advancing the ethics, knowledge, values, and mission of the profession (NASW Code of Ethics, 2017). Additionally, it is my obligation to assure that I am protecting the integrity of social work, enhancing the principles and values of social work, and work towards improvement of the profession. As I work with newly graduated social workers in particular, preserving the integrity of the profession means I carry the onus for assuring that my supervisees are fit to enter the social work profession, thus putting into practice the essential step of gatekeeping.

Colleagues. The art of gatekeeping can continue well into individuals' social work careers. In other words, my responsibility and obligation to colleagues includes expectation that I take suitable actions to discourage, avert, and/or correct the unethical conduct of colleagues (NASW Code of Ethics, 2017). This means it is vital that I remain alert to colleagues, assist them if/when something may be amiss, and utilize my gatekeeping role to assure they are afforded the most appropriate help, or even correction, if needed. As stated in the NASW Code of Ethics (2017), "Social workers who believe that a colleague has acted unethically should seek resolution by discussing their concerns with the colleague when feasible and when such discussion is likely to be productive" (2.10(c)).

**Society-at-large.** In order to put my gatekeeping role front and center through supervision and consultation, it is necessary to consider both the clients served along with the broader society. Because social workers are held to a high standard of practice at the micro level and the macro level, gatekeeping comes to the fore in teaching and modeling the ethical responsibility "... to the broader society" (NASW, 2017) as I engage in

advocating for individual clients, disenfranchised groups, and more. To involve my supervisees in activities such as this, or in suggesting or encouraging their involvement, my gatekeeping role is being put into play in a more macro context.

## **Transferability**

This particular study was completed within the context of a focus group comprised of social work supervisors who practice in the state of Alaska. The focus group itself consisted of seven Alaskan social work supervisors gathered electronically through the online Zoom program. One social work supervisor called in to the group due to travel. Ultimately, this supervisor was unable to remain on the call due to the call dropping several times; she later emailed me with her responses to the questions discussed during the group meeting.

Despite this work being researched solely with social work supervisors in Alaska, the ensuing discussion surrounding each question may easily have been held in any other state or group of states. Each question was general, comprising specifically personal viewpoints to assessments of other social work supervisors to suggestions for changes to the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) which might make supervision more effective. Because of these things, this research and its findings are easily transferable to most any social work practitioner who chooses to include supervision in his or her practice.

For example, because I am licensed in two other states besides Alaska, I can quite easily implement the findings of this study into a practice I might open in Hawaii or Idaho. Likewise, of the multiple colleagues I have throughout the country who are aware of my research, many have suggested they are interested in the results as they may be

applicable, or transferable, to their own practices. Both of these scenarios suggest the philosophical supposition of the transferability of my research findings for social work supervisors as gatekeepers in any state and any city or town. Furthermore, due to the scarcity of literature on gatekeeping in the social work profession, a comprehensive transferability of this literature famine suggests an inherent need for scholars and researchers throughout the country to consider further and more intense and deliberate gatekeeping research.

## **Usefulness of Findings**

General overview. Although I was initially stunned to find very little literature specifically discussing the idea of social work supervisors as gatekeepers, I immediately recognized a substantial gap which needed further research. There have been numerous cases of which I am aware, in both Alaska and other states, wherein a social worker has exercised poor or exceptionally poor judgement. At times, these judgements are simply mild mishaps or a case of not understanding a specific expectation. Other situations are those which should be or should have been reported to the state's board of social work examiners.

Regardless of whether an incident is minor or major, it well could have been averted had the social worker in question been supervised by a social worker with the intent of managing his or her gatekeeping role. As a gatekeeper to the social work profession, it is paramount that supervisors recognize, take responsibility for, and follow-up with any concerns or potential concerns about a supervisee who is working toward clinical licensure; in other words, putting gatekeeping at the forefront of supervision is

essential. The findings herein suggest that authentic and untainted gatekeeping is a serious and essential part of supervision within the social work profession.

**Specific findings.** More precisely, this research determined some expected and some unexpected findings, both of which are useful to the larger realm of social work practice. Findings were determined through specified research questions:

RQ1: How do social work supervisors in Alaska use their experience, expertise, knowledge, and skills in providing supervision to novice social workers?

RQ2: In what way do social work supervisors in Alaska understand their supervisory role with novice social workers as serving as gatekeepers of the social work profession?

RQ3: How do Alaska's social work supervisors perceive the value of, and report using, the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) as a resource or guide in the supervision process?

With these in mind, the online focus group consisting of seven social work supervisors in Alaska discussed multiple areas which answer the above questions. All participants agreed that there is a need for assuring supervisees need active and empathic listening in order to feel validated and safe in the supervisory setting. In addition, a consensus emerged with regard to positive clinical modeling, which also aligned with participant supervisors' use of their individual clinical skills without becoming the supervisees' therapist. These particular portions of the discussion are prevalent in their usefulness for practice, research, and potential policy considerations.

Another extremely useful and expected finding addressed the perceived usefulness and value of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) as a guide during the supervisory process. As group members discussed their individual use of this code, it was generally agreed that its purpose as a guideline for practice is an invaluable asset for social workers across the board, regardless of their particular job or position.

Additionally, most commented that they utilize the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) regularly, sometimes referring to it several times throughout the day. Others turn to the code when a specific issue arises in supervision.

A fairly surprising and unexpected finding came through one social work supervisor who reportedly turns to the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) just a few times each year. Unexpected and unanticipated as this finding was, it is exceptionally useful for the profession as a whole inasmuch as it indicates a need for greater continuing education from NASW on the Code of Ethics (NASW, 2017). Indeed, many of the focus group members later suggested that social workers at large would greatly benefit from ongoing trainings and educational opportunities specifically on the code, particularly as new technologies are created and implemented into society. The usefulness of this discussion is of great benefit for NASW and its insurance arm as the profession assures social workers and social work supervisors continually improve their personal and professional knowledge and use of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017).

As previously stated, one unexpected yet very considerable finding of this study is the lack of research and resources surrounding the expectation of gatekeeping to the social work profession. The literature is thirsty for gatekeeping research. This unexpected finding was also corroborated by the focus group discussion. This discovery has extensive usefulness for the profession, if only to urge other, more extensive research into this gap. Disseminating my study through NASW, CSWE, and ASWB should bring about greater interest and desire to research and implement newfound ways of execution in our schools of social work and in continuing education.

#### **Limitations Impacting Usefulness**

Any potential limitations which might impact the usefulness of these findings will be if I, as the researcher, do not follow-up on dissemination. That is, because I see the usefulness and the transferability of this study as virtually endless, limitations would indeed occur should my desire and follow-through of dissemination be thwarted either intentionally or unintentionally. That being said, this study is useful for social work supervisors specifically and the social work profession as a whole; I see myself assuring appropriate and proper dissemination of this work through the NASW, CSWE, ASWB, and through my own trainings and presentations for social workers around the country.

#### **Recommendations for Further Research**

This research is quite timely due to discovering the vast research and literature gap regarding gatekeeping in the realm of social work supervision. Therefore, the greatest recommendation I can make is that of continuing research, training, and education regarding social work gatekeeping. This is an enormous responsibility that social work supervisors hold in their hands each time they recommend or sign off on a social worker's application for licensure. As such, the seemingly obvious next question might be, "Who is responsible when something goes wrong?" Can the supervisor be held

accountable if or when a current or past supervisee intentionally or unintentionally crosses boundaries, exploits a client for personal gain, takes undue advantage of a client's vulnerabilities, or even engages in sexual misbehaviors with a current or past client or family member of a client?

For these reasons, it is highly recommended that research into social work gatekeeping becomes paramount, that it be encouraged by NASW, CSWE, and ASWB through grants and scholarships. Further, this specific research should grow into an immense forefront of the social work profession in order to protect social work supervisors, social workers, and society. The more I've read and studied, the stronger my position on these recommendations become.

## **Implications for Social Change**

## **Potential Impact for Positive Social Change**

This study was undertaken as a means of gaining greater personal and professional knowledge of supervision in the social work profession, as well as solidifying my own thoughts and practices as I implement my supervision and consultation practice. Through so doing, I quickly discovered the seeming years-long pause in supervision research and then realized that very little research had been conducted with regard to social work supervisors taking on the role as gatekeepers to the profession. This swiftly became a major focus of my own doctoral studies, allowing me to develop specific focus group questions in order to learn and understand the thoughts of other supervisors regarding both supervision as a whole, and gatekeeping specifically.

The potential for positive social change in this particular instance addresses all levels: Micro, mezzo, and macro, and includes practice, research, and policy.

Positive social change comes about as individuals begin to wonder, question, research, and determine one or more roads to take as a means of pursuing a given social change endeavor. Impacts of social change are many and varied. Regarding this research into social work supervision and the identified gap of literature and research regarding the role supervisors hold as gatekeepers, the impact can be vast and highly constructive. The potential for a massive, or immense, impact for positive social change lies in the willingness of not only social work supervisors, but also schools of social work, scholar-researchers, leaders of professional organizations such as NASW, CSWE, and ASWB, and more.

Educational institutions of social work and their accrediting bodies need to implement greater emphasis on preparing students for leadership and supervisory roles, including that of gatekeeping. These students have a responsibility to internalize what they are being taught and understand that although they may not currently aspire to leadership and supervision, it may be something that could be thrust upon them within a given agency specifically because of their social work education, experience and expertise. Leadership and supervision may also be something that social work students seek at a later time, after working in the field for several years.

Professional membership organizations such as NASW have a responsibility to assure their members are given opportunity for specific training as supervisors, gatekeepers, and the ethics involved therein. Additionally, administrative institutions

such as the ASWB bears a similar burden: That of preparing effectively researched documentation and literature to dispense throughout the world of social work, thereby acknowledging and assuring their own part in this positive social change. And finally, each individual social worker must accept the onus for self-education and helping move this positive social change forward insomuch that our clients and the community at-large are protected and served by the best the social work profession has to offer.

#### **Summary**

Having devoted extensive time and energy into this capstone project, my own personal and professional learning, education, and erudition has been challenged, stimulated, internalized, and taken root in the strength of my belief in ethical supervision and my personal desire and passion for learned social work supervisors as gatekeepers. Because this particular study has taken much longer to complete than I initially anticipated, I firmly believe it was imperative for me so as to most effectively add to the body of literature and research on social work supervision. This area of research has seen somewhat of a renaissance in recent years, specifically since 2017, and is continuing to grow. What is still lacking is the more specific arena of gatekeeping as an invaluable role for social work supervisors to embrace and practice.

The key essence of this study can be found in the consistency in repetitiveness throughout this document regarding the current gap in both research and literature regarding gatekeeping to the social work profession. This gap can no longer be ignored or overlooked. It is an essential element in assuring the integrity of the profession and providing an added layer of protection for the social worker, the social work supervisor,

social work clients, and the community. Furthermore, as we study the practices of social work supervisors throughout the country, we are better armed with information and knowledge to tackle the vital import of effectively educating the next generation of social workers.

#### References

- Asakura, K. (2018). Attending to social justice in clinical social work: Supervision as a pedagogical space. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, (46)(4), 289-297. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10615-018-0667-4
- Baines, D., Charlesworth, S., Turner, D., & O'Neill, L. (2014). Lean social care and worker identity: The role of outcomes, supervision and mission. *Critical Social Policy*, (34), 4, 433-453. doi:10.1177/0261018314538799
- Bartoli, A. & Kennedy, S. (2015). Tick if applicable: A critique of a national UK social work supervision policy. *Practice: Social Work in Action*, (27)4, 239-250.

  London: Routledge.
- Beddoe, L., Hay, K., Maidment, J., Ballantyne, N. & Walker, S. (2018). Readiness to practice social work in Aotearoa New Zealand: Perceptions of students and educators. *Social Work Education*, (37)8, 955-967.

  doi:10.1080/02615479.2018.1497152
- Beddoe, L. (2012). External supervision in social work: Power, space, risk, and the search for safety. *Australian Social Work*, 65(2), 197-213. doi:10.1080/0312407x.2011.591187
- Beddoe, L., Karvinen-Niinikoski, S., Ruch, G., & Ming-sum, T. (2015). Towards an international consensus on a research agenda for social work supervision: Report on the first survey of a Delphi study. *British Journal of Social Work 46*(6), 1568-1586, 1–19. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcv110

- Beddoe, L., & Maidment, J. (2015). Current challenges in supervision in social work. In L. Beddoe & J. Maidment (Eds.), *Supervision in social work: Contemporary issues* (pp. 1-9). London: Routledge.
- Bell, M. M., Rubin, D. (2013). Social workers and family planning knowledge: Are we still gatekeepers? *The Journal of Baccalaureate Social Work, 18*,1-17.
- Bernard, J. M., & Goodyear, R. K. (2013). Fundamentals of clinical supervision (5th edition). New Jersey: Pearson.
- Blount, A.J., Taylor, D.D., Lambie, G.W. & Anwell, A.N. (2016). Clinical supervisors' perceptions of wellness: A phenomenological view on supervisee wellness. *The Professional Counselor*, 6(4), 360-374. doi:10.15241/ab.6.4.360
- Bogo, M., & McKnight, K. (2006). Clinical supervision in social work. *The Clinical Supervisor*, 24(1), 49–67. doi:10.1:300/j001v24n01\_04
- Bogo, M. & Sewell, K.M. (2018). Introduction to the special issues on the supervision of staff and field education of students. *Clinical Social Work Journal*, 46(4), 249-251. doi:10.1007/s10615-018-0690-5.
- British Association of Social Workers. (2011). BASW/CoSW England research on supervision in social work, with particular reference to supervision practice in multi-disciplinary teams. Retrieved from https://www.basw.co.uk/resources/february-2011-%E2%80%93-research-supervision-social-work-particular-reference-supervision-practice

- Cabaniss, D. L, Arbuckle, M. R. & Moga, D. E. (2014). Using learning objectives for psychotherapy supervision. *American Journal of Psychotherapy*, 68(2), 163-176. doi:10.1176/appi.psychotherapy.2014.68.2.163.
- Carpenter, J., Webb, C. M., & Bostock, L. (2013). The surprisingly weak evidence base for supervision: Findings from a systematic review of research in child welfare practice. *Children and Youth Services Review*, *35*(11), 1843–1853. doi:10.1016/j.childyouth.2013.08.014
- Clay, R. A. (2017). How to be a better supervisor for students in health service. *Monitor on Psychology*, 48(8), 34-40. Retrieved from https://www.apa.org/monitor/2017/09/ce-corner
- Costa, K. (2019). Systematic guide to thematic qualitative data analysis. Unpublished manuscript. doi:10.31219/osf.io/sq2dh
- Crowhurst, I. (2013). The fallacy of the instrumental gate? Contextualizing the process of gaining access through gatekeepers. *International Journal of Social Research methodology*, 16(6), 463-475. doi:10.1080/13645579.2013.823282\_
- Crunk, A.E. & Barden, S.M. (2017). The common factors discrimination model: An integrated approach to counselor supervision. *The Professional Counselor*, 7(1), 62-75. doi:10.15241/aec.7.1.62
- Dan, V. (2017). An exhaustive view on supervision in social work: History, evolution, current trends. *Revista de Asistenţ Social*, *16*(2), 147-159.

- Davys, A., May, J., Burns, & O'Connell, M. (2017). Evaluating social work supervision.

  \*Aotearoa New Zealand Social Work, 29(3), 108-121. doi:10.11157/anzswj-vol29iss3id314
- Department of Health. (2016). *Proposals for changing the system of midwifery supervision in the UK*. London: Department of Health.
- Ellis, M. V. (2001). Harmful supervision, a cause for alarm: Comment on Gray et al. (2001) and Nelson and Friedlander (2001). *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 48, 401–406. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.48.4.401
- Ellis, M. V., Berger, L., Hanus, A. E., Ayala, E. E., Swords, B. A., & Siembor, M. (2013). Inadequate and harmful clinical supervision: Testing a revised framework and assessing occurrence. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *42*, 434–472. doi:0.1177/0011000013508656
- Ellis, M. V., Creaner, M., Hutman, H. B., & Timulak, L. (2015). A comparative study of clinical supervision in the Republic of Ireland and the US. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 62, 621–631. doi.org/10.1037/cou0000110
- Ellis, M.V. (2017). Narratives of harmful clinical supervision. *The Clinical Supervisor*, *36*(1), 20–87. doi.org/10.1080/07325223.2017.1297752
- Ellis, M. V. (2017). Clinical supervision contract & consent statement and supervisee rights and responsibilities. *The Clinical Supervisor*, *36*, 145–159. Retrieved from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/07325223.2017.1321885
- Engelbrecht, L. (2014). Social work supervision policies and frameworks: Playing notes or making music? *Social Work, 49*(4), 456-468. doi.org/10.15270/49-3-34

- Falender, C.A. (2018). Clinical supervision—the missing ingredient. *American Psychologist*, 73, 1240-1250. doi.org/10.1037/amp0000385\_
- Fink, E.L. (2016). Symbolic Interactionism. In C.R. Berger and M.E. Roloff (Eds.), *The International encyclopedia of Interpersonal Communication*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. doi: 10.1002/9781118540190.wbeic0266
- Fisher, A.K., Simmons, C. & Allen, S.C. (2016). An experiential approach to clinical supervision training: a mixed methods evaluation of effectiveness. *Journal of Teaching in Social Work*, *36*(5), 460-476.

  doi.org/10.1080/08841233.2016.1231157 F
- Freund, A., Blit-Cohen, E. Cohen, A., & Dehan, N. (2013). Professional commitment in novice social work students: Socio-demographic characteristics, motives, and perceptions of the profession. *Social Work Education*, *32*(7), 867-887. doi.org/10.1080/02615479.2012.717920
- Gaižauskaitė, I. (2012). The use of the focus group method in social work research. Social Work, 11(1), 19-30.
- Gardner, A., McCutcheon, H., & Fedoruk, M. (2017). The black and white and shades of grey of boundary violations. *Collegian Science Direct*, *24*, 45-51. doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2015.10.001
- Getz, W. (2017). Social workers' perceptions of a rural emergency mental health trauma service (Order No. 10277687). Available from Dissertations & Theses @ Walden University. (1897022699). Retrieved from

- https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?url=https://search-proquest-com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/docview/1897022699?accountid=14872
- Golia, G.M. & McGovern, A.R. (2015). If you save me, I'll save you: The power of peer supervision in clinical training and professional development. *British Journal of Social Work*, 45(2), 634-650. doi.org/10.1093/bjsw/bct138\_
- Gray, D.E. (2013). *Doing research in the real world* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Washington D.C.: Sage.
- Hafford-Letchfield, T. & Engelbrecht, L. (2018). Contemporary practices in social work supervision: Time for new paradigms? *European Journal of Social Work*, 21(3), 329-332. doi.org/10.1080/13691457.2018.1446782\_
- Hafford-Letchfield, T. & Huss, E. (2018). Putting you in the picture: the use of visual imagery in social work supervision. *European Journal of Social Work*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1080/13691457.2018.1423546
- Hay, K., Maidment, Ballantyne, N. Beddoe, L. & Walker, S. (2018). Feeling lucky: The serendipitous nature of field education. *Clinical Social Work Journal*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1007/s10615-018-0688-z
- Hoover, R., & Koerber, A. (2011). Using NVivo to answer the challenges of qualitative research in professional communication: Benefits and best practices tutorial. *IEEE Transactions on Professional Communication*, *54*(1), 68-82. doi:10.1109/tpc.2009.2036896\_
- Hosken, N. (2013). Social work supervision and discrimination. *Advances in Social Work*& Welfare Education, 15(1), 91-103.

- Hsiugn, H.H., & Tsai, W.C. (2009). Job definition discrepancy between supervisors and subordinates: The antecedent role of LMS and outcomes. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 829, 89-112. doi:10.1348/096317908x292374
- Humphrey, H. J., Marcangelo, M., Rodriguez, E. R., & Spitz, D. (2013). Assessing competencies during education in psychiatry. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 25, 291-300. doi:10.3109/09540261.2013.799460
- Hutchings, J, Cooper, L. & O'Donoghue, K. (2016). Cross-disciplinary supervision amongst social workers in Aotearoa New Zealand. *Aotearoa New Zealand Social Work Review*, 26(4), 53-64. doi:10.11157/anzswj-vol26iss4id26
- Inman, A.G. & Luu, L.P. (2017). Gender dynamics in clinical supervision. In K.L. Nadal (Ed.), Sage Encyclopedia of Psychology and Gender (pp. 2-5). Sage Publications,
   Inc.: Thousand Oaks. Kadushin, A. & Harkness, D. (2014). Social Work. New
   York: Columbia University Press. doi:10.4135/9781483384269.n216
- Kennerley, H. and Clohessy, S. (2010). Becoming a supervisor. In Westbrook D. (ed), *The Oxford Guide to Surviving as a CBT Therapist*. Oxford: Oxford University Press. doi:10.1093/med:psych/9780199561308.003.0016
- Khandkar, S. H. (2009). Open coding. University of Calgary, 23, 2009. Retrieved from: http://pages.cpsc.ucalgary.ca/~saul/wiki/uploads/CPSC681/opencoding.pdf
- Kozlowski, J.M., Pruitt, N.T., DeWalt, T.A., & Knox, S. (2014). Can boundary crossings in clinical supervision be beneficial? *Counselling Psychology Quarterly*, 27(2), 109-126. doi.org/10.1080/09515070.2013.870123

- Krefting, L. (1991). Rigor in qualitative research; The assessment of trustworthiness.

  \*American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 45(3), 214-222.

  doi.org/10.5014/ajot.45.3.214
- Lal, B. B. (1995). Symbolic interaction theories. *American Behavioral Scientist*, (3), 421. doi:10.1177/0002764295038003005
- Lietz, C.A. (2010). Evaluating qualitative research for social work practitioners. *Advances in Social Work, 11*(2), 188-202. doi.org/10.18060/589
- Manthorpe, J., Moriarty, J., Hussein, S., Stevens, M., & Sharpe, E. (2015). Content and Purpose of Supervision in Social Work Practice in England: Views of Newly Qualified Social Workers, Managers and Directors. *British Journal of Social Work*, 45(1), 52–68. doi:ezp.waldenulibrary.org/bjsw/bct102
- Martin, P., Kumar, S., & Lizarondo, L. (2017). When I say ... clinical supervision. *The Association for the Study of Medical Education*, *51*(9) 890-891. doi:10.1111/medu.13258
- Martin, P. & Milne, D. (2018). Choice of clinical supervisor: Cunning or collusion? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 74(6), 1229-1230. doi.org/10.1111/jan.13471
- Martin, P., Milne, D. Reiser, R.P. (2018). Peer supervision: International problems and prospects. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 74(5), 998-999. doi:10.1111/jan.13413
- McNamara, M.L., Kangos, K.A., Corp, D.A., Ellis, M.V., & Taylor, E.J. (2017).

  Narratives of harmful clinical supervision: Synthesis and recommendations. *The Clinical Supervisor*, *36*(1), 124-144. doi:10.1080/07325223.2017.1298488

- McNiff, J. & Whitehead, J. (2010). *You and your action research project*, 3<sup>rd</sup> ed. New York: Routledge.
- Meissner, D. & Shmatko, N. (2016). "Keep open": The potential of gatekeepers for the aligning universities to the new Knowledge Triangle. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 123, 191-198. Abstract retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0040162516000780?via%3Di hub
- Milne, D. (2007). An empirical definition of clinical supervision. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 46(4), 437-447. doi:10.1348/014466507x197415
- Milne, D. & Reiser, R.P. (2012). A rationale for evidence-based clinical supervision.

  \*\*Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy, 42(3),139-149. doi:10.1007/s10879-011-9199-8\_
- Milne, D. L., & Reiser, R. P. (2016). Supporting our supervisors: Sending out an SOS. *The Cognitive Behaviour Therapist*, 9(19). Advanced online publication.

  doi:10.1017/s1754470x15000616\_
- Milne, D. L., & Reiser, R. P. (2017). A manual for evidence-based cognitive and behavioral (CBT) supervision. Chichester, UK: Wiley.

  doi:10.1002/9781119030799
- Milne, D. L. (2018). *Evidence-based CBT supervision: Principles and practice* (2nd ed.). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Milne, D. & Martin, P. (2018). Supportive clinical supervision: supported at last.

  Manuscript submitted for publication. doi:10.1111/jan.13816

- Milton, S.A., Sinclair, M.M., Vakalahi, H.O. (2017). Organizational identification:

  Perspectives of dispersed social workers. *Advances in Social Work, 17*(2), 285-303. doi.org/10.18060/21014
- Moon, K. & Blackman, D. (2014). A guide to understanding social science research for natural sciences. *Conservation Biology*, 28(5), 1167-1177, doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12326
- NASW (2017) Code of Ethics. Washington DC: NASW Press.
- O'Donoshue, K. (2014). Towards an evidence-informed approach to clinical social work supervision. In M. Pack & J. Cargill (Eds.). *Evidence discovery and assessment in social work practice* (pp. 297-308). doi:10.4018/978-1-14666-6563-7.ch014
- O'Donoghue, K. (2015). Issues and challenges facing social work supervision in the twenty-first century. *China Journal of Social Work*, 8(2), 136-149. doi.org/10.1080/17525098.2015.1039172
- O'Donoghue, K. (2016). How is supervision recorded in child and family social work?

  An analysis of 244 written records of formal supervision: How is supervision recorded in child and family social work? *Child & Family Social Work*.

  doi:10.1111/cfs.12330
- Parker, S., Suetani, S., Motamarri, B. (2017). On being supervised: getting value from a clinical supervisor and making the relationship work when it is not. *Australasian Psychiatry*. doi:10.1177/1039856217734668
- Parkinson, B. (2015). Guidance for novice cognitive behaviour therapy supervisors. *Mental Health Practice*, 19(1), 12-17. doi:10.7748/mhp.19.1.12.e990\_

- Patterson, F. (2017). A good fit: The contribution of action learning to supervision practice. *Social Work Education*, *36*(1), 48-61. doi.org/10.1080/02615479.2016.1246523
- Radcliffe, K. & Milne, D. (2010). The meaning of satisfaction with clinical supervision:

  Is it simply getting what you want? *Clinical Psychology Forum*, 211, 15-20.
- Reamer, F. G. (2003). Boundary issues in social work: Managing dual relationships. *Social Work*, 48(1), 121-132. doi:10.1093/sw/48.1.121
- Reamer, F.G. (2013). The digital and electronic revolution in social work: Rethinking the meaning of ethical practice. *Ethics and Social Welfare*, 7(1), 2-19. doi:10.1080/17496535.2012.738694
- Reamer, F.G. (2017). Evolving ethical standards in the digital age. *Australian Social Work*, 70(2). 148-159. doi:10.1080/0312407x.2016.1146314
- Reiser, R.P. (2014). International supervising cognitive and behavioral therapies. In D. Milne and R. Reiser (Eds.), *The Wiley International Handbook of Clinical Supervision*, 493-517. doi.org/10.1002/9781118846360.ch24\_
- Reiser, R.P. & Milne, D.L. (2017). A CBT formulation of supervisees' narratives about unethical and harmful supervision. *The Clinical Supervisor*, *36*(1), 102-115. doi.org/10.1080/07325223.2017.1295895
- Ritchie, J. & Lewis, J. (Eds.). (2003). *Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers*, Sage: Thousand Oaks.
- Ross, E. & Ncube, M.P. (2018). Student social workers' experiences of supervision. *The Indian Journal of Social Work*, 79(1), 31-54. doi:10.32444/ijsw.2018.79.1.31-54

- Rubin, H.J. & Rubin, I.S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Saldana, J. (2016). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Segre, S. (2019). Howard S. Becker's symbolic interactionism. *The American Sociologist*. doi:10.1007/s12108-019-9407-7
- Sewell, K.M. (2018). Social work supervision of staff: A primer and scoping review (2013-2017). *Clinical Social Work Journal*, *10*. Advanced online publication. doi:10.1007/s10615-018-0679-0
- Sewell, K.M. (2018). Illuminating clinical supervision—past, present and future: An interview with Dr. Lawrence Shulman. *Clinical Social Work Journal*. Advance online publication. doi:1007/s10615-018-0664-7
- State of Alaska (n.d.). Board of Social Work Examiners. Retrieved from:

  https://www.commerce.alaska.gov/web/cbpl/professionallicensing/socialworkexa
  miners.aspx
- Stringer, E.T. (2014). Action research, 4th ed., Los Angeles: Sage.
- Stryker, S. (2000). Symbolic interaction theory. In A. E. Kazdin (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of psychology, Vol. 7*. (pp. 526–528). Washington, DC; New York, NY: American Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/10522-223\_
- Tomlin, A.M., Weatherston, D.J., & Pavkov, T. (2014). Critical components of reflective supervision: Responses from expert supervisors in the field. *Infant Mental Health Journal*, 35(1), 70-80. doi:10.1002/imhj.21420

- Törnquist, A., Rakovshik, S. Carlsson, J., & Norberg, J. (2017). How supervisees on a foundation course in CBT perceive a supervision session and what they bring forward to the next therapy session. *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy*.

  Advance online publication. doi:10.1017/S1352465817000558
- Turney, D. & Ruch, G. (2018). What makes it so hard to look and to listen? Exploring the use of the cognitive and affective supervisory approach with children's social work managers. *Journal of Social Work Practice*, 32(2), 125-138. doi.org/10.1080/02650533.2018.1439460
- Watkins, C.E. (2014). Psychotherapy supervision developments and innovations for the new millennium: Contributions from the cutting edge. *American Journal of Psychotherapy*, 68(2), 141-149.

  doi.org/10.1176/appi.psychotherapy.2014.68.2.141
- Watkins, C.E. (2014). Psychotherapy supervision developments and innovations for the new millennium: Contributions from the cutting edge. *American Journal of Psychotherapy*, 68(2), 141-149. doi:10.1176/appi.psychotherapy.2014.68.2.141
- Watkins, C.E. (2018). The generic model of psychotherapy supervision: An analogized research-informing meta-theory. *Journal of Psychotherapy Integration*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1037/int0000114
- Wilkins, D., Khan, M., Stabler, L., Newlands, F. Mcdonnell, J. (2018). Evaluating the quality of social work supervision in UK Children's Services: Comparing self-report and independent observations. *Clinical Social Work Journal*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1007/s10615-018-0680-775

Wilkins, D., Lynch, A., Antonopoulou, V. (2018). A golden thread? The relationship between supervision, practice, and family engagement in child and family social work. *Child & Family Social Work*, 1-10. doi:10.1111/cfs.12442

## Appendix: Discussion Questions

The following questions will be asked during the online focus group established for Alaskan social work supervisors for purposes of this study. Please keep in mind that these questions will follow the *responsive interviewing* style of interviewing, using flexibility during the process, as outlined by Rubin & Rubin (2012).

- 1) Please explain your understanding of your role as a social work supervisor.
- Please discuss how you understand gatekeeping as it relates to social work supervision.
- 3) At what level do Alaska social work supervisors recognize their roles as gatekeepers of the social work profession?
- 4) As a supervisor, how do you intervene with a troubled supervisee?
- 5) In this role, do Alaska social work supervisors use the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) as their main resource or guide? Why or why not?
- 6) How does the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) protect Alaskan clients?
- 7) What value do you place on the NASW Code of Ethics as a guideline in your supervisory role?
- 8) What value do you believe other Alaska social work supervisors place on the use of the NASW Code of Ethics (2017)?
- 9) How might the NASW Code of Ethics (2017) protect you, as the supervisor, in your practice?
- 10) In your experience as a social work supervisor, what if anything do you believe could be changed to make the NASW Code of Ethics more effective?